

## MEDIATING EFFECT OF GOVERNMENT POLICY ON THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN KEY INTERNATIONALISATION FACTORS AND MALAYSIAN HIGHER EDUCATION INSTITUTIONS' INTERNATIONALISATION PERFORMANCE

**NUREEZAN DAUD** 

FEP 2019 14



# MEDIATING EFFECT OF GOVERNMENT POLICY ON THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN KEY INTERNATIONALISATION FACTORS AND MALAYSIAN HIGHER EDUCATION INSTITUTIONS' INTERNATIONALISATION PERFORMANCE

By

NUREEZAN DAUD

Thesis submitted to the School of Graduate Studies, Universiti Putra Malaysia, in Fulfilment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science

## **COPYRIGHT**

All material contained within the thesis, including without limitation text, logos, icons, photographs and all other artwork, is copyright material of Universiti Putra Malaysia unless otherwise stated. Use may be made of any material contained within the thesis for non-commercial purposes from the copyright holder. Commercial use of material may only be made with the express, prior, written permission of Universiti Putra Malaysia.

Copyright © Universiti Putra Malaysia



Abstract of a thesis presented to the Senate of Universiti Putra Malaysia in fulfilment of the requirement for the degree of Master of Science

## MEDIATING EFFECT OF GOVERNMENT POLICY ON THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN KEY INTERNATIONALISATION FACTORS AND MALAYSIAN HIGHER EDUCATION INSTITUTIONS' INTERNATIONALISATION PERFORMANCE

By

#### **NUREEZAN DAUD**

June 2019

Chair : Noor Azman Ali, PhD

Faculty : Economics and Management

In light of the increased globalisation and rapid transformation of the higher education sector, countries and HEIs were forced to address the challenges of global higher education in order to build their reputation, compete and sustain at the global level. One of the effective and pertinent strategies to enhance the higher education institutions internationalisation performance is to attract more international students into the country.

In this regard, the current study is designed to determine the key factors that profoundly influence Malaysian HEIS' internationalisation performance. This study also focused on investigating the relationships between financial conditions, marketing strategies, HEIs' reputation, and HEIs' international student management towards government policy and Malaysian HEIs' internationalisation performance. The relationship between government policy and the Malaysian HEIs' internationalisation performance was also examined. The mediating role of government policy on the relationships between the variables namely, financial conditions, marketing strategies, HEIs' reputation and HEIs' international students' management and the Malaysian HEIs' internationalisation performance were also studied.

The current study adopted a non-probability sampling survey method involving convenience sampling and snowball sampling to answer the research questions that have been developed. Results of the study proved that financial conditions, marketing strategies, HEIs' reputation and HEIs' international student management had significant relationship towards the Malaysian HEIs' internationalisation performance. Results of the study also showed that, except for marketing strategies, all other independent variables, including financial conditions, HEIs' reputation and HEIs' international student management had significant relationship towards government policy. Results also proved that government policy is significantly related to Malaysian HEIs'

internationalisation performance. Finally, results also indicated that government policy strongly mediated the relationships between financial conditions, marketing strategies, HEIs' reputation, and HEIs' international student management with Malaysian HEIs' internationalisation performance. However, as this study uses the convenience sampling method, the findings may not be appropriate to be generalised to all population of international students studying in Malaysia.

The current study's research framework highlights the importance of considering the identified influential key factors of Malaysian HEIs' internationalisation performance, for Malaysian HEIs to design and implement their internationalisation strategies effectively. The findings of this study are also pertinent for policymakers of higher education in designing, executing and enhancing higher education policies conducive for Malaysia to achieve the target to become the international hub of educational excellence in the year 2025.

Abstrak tesis yang dikemukakan kepada Senat Universiti Putra Malaysia sebagai memenuhi keperluan untuk ijazah Master Sains

## KESAN PENGANTARA DASAR KERAJAAN KE ATAS HUBUNGAN ANTARA FAKTOR PENGANTARABANGSAAN UTAMA DENGAN PRESTASI PENGANTARABANGSAAN INSTITUSI PENGAJIAN TINGGI MALAYSIA

Oleh

#### **NUREEZAN DAUD**

Jun 2019

Pengerusi : Noor Azman Ali, PhD Fakulti : Ekonomi dan Pengurusan

Impak dari globalisasi dan transformasi yang pesat dalam sektor pengajian tinggi global membawa cabaran yang besar kepada kebanyakan negara dan institusi pengajian tinggi (IPT) untuk membina reputasi, bersaing dan kekal relevan dalam konteks persaingan global. Justeru itu, salah satu strategi pengantarabangsaan yang berkesan dan amat penting bagi meningkatkan prestasi pengantarabangsaan IPT ialah dengan menarik lebih ramai pelajar antarabangsa.

Kajian ini dilaksanakan dengan tujuan untuk mengenalpasti faktor-faktor utama yang mempengaruhi prestasi pengantarabangsaan IPT di Malaysia. Kajian ini juga bertujuan untuk menganalisa hubungkait di antara faktor-faktor kedudukan kewangan, strategi pemasaran, reputasi IPT, dan pengurusan pelajar antarabangsa di IPT terhadap dasar kerajaan dan prestasi pengantarabangsaan IPT di Malaysia. Selain itu, analisa terhadap hubungkait di antara dasar kerajaan dan prestasi pengantarabangsaan IPT di Malaysia, turut diberi penekanan. Seterusnya, peranan dasar kerajaan sebagai pengantara terhadap hubungkait di antara kedudukan kewangan, strategi pemasaran, reputasi IPT dan pengurusan pelajar antarabangsa di IPT dan prestasi pengantarabangsaan IPT di Malaysia, turut dikaji.

Bagi penjawab persoalan dalam kajian, kaedah "persampelan bukan kebarangkalian" iaitu melalui strategi "persampelan mudah" dan "persampelan *snowball*" telah diaplikasikan. Hasil kajian ini telah membuktikan bahawa faktor-faktor pengantarabangsaan iaitu kedudukan kewangan, strategi pemasaran, reputasi IPT dan pengurusan pelajar antarabangsa di IPT mempengaruhi prestasi pengantarabangsaan IPT di Malaysia. Kajian ini juga membuktikan bahawa faktor-faktor kedudukan kewangan, reputasi IPT dan pengurusan pelajar antarabangsa juga mempunyai hubungan yang signifikan terhadap dasar kerajaan. Namun demikian, faktor strategi pengantarabangsaan

didapati tidal mempunyai hubungan yang signifikan terhadap dasar kerajaan. Hasil kajian juga menunjukkan bahawa dasar kerajaan mempengaruhi prestasi pengantarabangsaan IPT di Malaysia. Selain itu, peranan dasar kerajaan sebagai pengantara terhadap hubungan di antara kedudukan kewangan, strategi pemasaran, reputasi IPT dan pengurusan pelajar antarabangsa di IPT dan prestasi pengantarabangsaan IPT di Malaysia juga telah dibuktikan melalui kajian ini. Walau bagaimanapun, disebabkan kajian ini menggunapakai kaedah persampelan mudah, dapatan kajian ini adalah tidak bersesuaian untuk dijadikan sebagai asas pengukuran terhadap populasi pelajar antarabangsa yang sedang menuntut di Malaysia secara keseluruhan.

Rangka kerja kajian ini telah membuktikan betapa pentingnya bagi IPT-IPT di Malaysia untuk mengambilkira faktor-faktor yang mempengaruhi pretasi pengantarabangsaan dalam merangka dan melaksanakan strategi pengantarabangsaan mereka dengan berkesan. Dapatan kajian ini juga adalah penting untuk penggubal dasar pengajian tinggi dalam merangka, melaksanakan dan memperkukuhkan dasar-dasar pengajian tinggi yang kondusif supaya Malaysia dapat mencapai matlamat untuk menjadi pusat kecemerlangan pendidikan tinggi antarabangsa pada tahun 2025.

#### **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

#### With the name of Allah, the Most Compassionate and Most Merciful

Alhamdulillah, all praise and thanks to the Almighty Allah, for His blessing and for giving me the strength and passion to complete this search for knowledge and wisdom. Indeed, this journey has, in so many ways, helped me become a better Muslimah.

On this auspicious occasion, I wish to express my deepest gratitude to the special persons in my life: my parents, Hj. Daud Hj Abd. Rahman and Hjh. Kamariah Abdullah, my husband, Zulkepli Mohamed, my lovely children, Zara Eryna Marissa, Ziqry Hafeiz Zharif and Zara Afryna Raysha, as well as my dear sisters, Nurazleen and Nurkhalisah Insyirah, for their understanding and patience, as well as for being there for me throughout this journey. Indeed, it was not an easy journey, but it was made possible because of your love, support and encouragement for me to finish what I have started.

A special thanks also goes out to my supervisors, Assoc. Prof. Dr. Noor Azman Ali and Dr. Amer Hamah Jantan, who patiently supervised, taught and motivated me so that I could complete my study successfully. May Allah SWT reward you both with the best of gifts.

I would like to also extend my appreciation to all of my friends, especially Norwan Ahmad, Dr. Rezal Jaafar and, Zakaria Lacheheb, who have always shared their support in so many ways, and words of encouragement for me to never give up. My thanks also go out to the respondents who have participated in the study and those who were directly or indirectly involved in my journey to complete my Master's study successfully.

Last but not least, I would like to record my highest appreciation to the Government of Malaysia and the Public Service Department for funding my study through the Federal Training Award. I am indeed honoured and grateful for being selected as one of the recipients of this prestigious award.

The journey will not stop here, of course, for my quest for knowledge will never be satisfied. Hopefully, I can use the knowledge and experience during my studies to help others in the future, Insya Allah. May Allah reward us all with His blessings till Jannah.

Thank you.

This thesis was submitted to the Senate of Universiti Putra Malaysia and has been accepted as fulfilment of the requirement for the degree of Master of Science. The members of the Supervisory Committee were as follows:

## Noor Azman Ali, PhD

Associate Professor Faculty of Economics and Management Universiti Putra Malaysia (Chairman)

## Amer Hamzah Jantan, PhD

Senior Lecturer
Faculty of Economics and Management
Universiti Putra Malaysia
(Member)

## ROBIAH BINTI YUNUS, PhD

Professor and Dean School of Graduate Studies Universiti Putra Malaysia

Date:

#### **Declaration By Graduate Student**

I hereby confirm that:

- this thesis is my original work;
- quotations, illustrations and citations have been duly referenced;
- this thesis has not been submitted previously or concurrently for any other degree at any other institutions;
- intellectual property from the thesis and copyright of thesis are fully-owned by Universiti Putra Malaysia, as according to the Universiti Putra Malaysia (Research) Rules 2012;
- written permission must be obtained from supervisor and the office of Deputy Vice-Chancellor (Research and Innovation) before thesis is published (in the form of written, printed or in electronic form) including books, journals, modules, proceedings, popular writings, seminar papers, manuscripts, posters, reports, lecture notes, learning modules or any other materials as stated in the Universiti Putra Malaysia (Research) Rules 2012;
- there is no plagiarism or data falsification/fabrication in the thesis, and scholarly integrity is upheld as according to the Universiti Putra Malaysia (Graduate Studies) Rules 2003 (Revision 2012-2013) and the Universiti Putra Malaysia (Research) Rules 2012. The thesis has undergone plagiarism detection software.

Signature:	Date:	
Name and Matric No	• Nureezan Rt Daud, GS/18320	

## **Declaration by Members of Supervisory Committee**

This is to confirm that:

- the research conducted and the writing of this thesis was under our supervision;
- supervision responsibilities as stated in the Universiti Putra Malaysia (Graduate Studies) Rules 2003 (Revision 2012-2013) are adhered to.

Signature: Name of Chairman of Supervisory Committee:	
Signature: Name of Member of Supervisory Committee:	

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

			Page
ABST	RACT		i
ABST			iii
		EDGEMENTS	V
	OVAL	SENIE (I)	vi
	LARATI	ION	viii
	OF TAI		xiii
	OF FIG		XV
		BREVIATIONS	xvi
	OI ADI	DREVIATIONS	AVI
CHAI			
1	INTE	RODUCTION	1
	1.1	Background of the Study	1
		1.1.1 The Globalisation of Higher Education	1
		1.1.2 Challenges in Global Higher Education	3
	1.2	Higher Education Internationalisation Strategies in	
		Developing Countries	6
	1.3	Malaysia as an International Education Hub	8
		1.3.1 Strategic Location	9
		1.3.2 Higher Education Policy	9
		1.3.3 Internationalisation Performance	14
	1.4	Problem Statement	18
	1.5	Research Questions	20
	1.6	Research Objectives	20
	1.7	The Scope of the Study	20
	1.8	The Significance of the Research	21
		1.8.1 Theoretical Significance	21
		1.8.2 Practical Significance	22
	1.9	Definition of Key Terms	22
	1.10	The Organisation of the Thesis	23
	1.10	The Organisation of the Thesis	23
2	LITE	CRATURE REVIEW	24
	2.1	Introduction	24
	2.2	Theoretical Background	24
		2.2.1 The Push-Pull Model	24
		2.2.2 The Course Continuance Behavioural Theory	26
		2.2.3 The Public Policy Theory	27
	2.3	International Student's Mobility Trend in Malaysia	28
	2.4	Theoretical Framework	30
	2.5	Higher Education Key Internationalisation Factors	32
		2.5.1 Financial Conditions	32
		2.5.2 Marketing Strategies	33
		2.5.3 HEIs' Reputation	36
		2.5.4 HEIs' International Student Management	38
	2.6	Government Policy	40
	2.7	Malaysian HEIs' internationalisation performance	42
	4.1	2.7.1 Return on Investment (ROI)	42
		2.7.2 Students' Satisfaction	43
			13

		2.7.3 Students' Loyalty and Retention Rate	46
	2.8	Study Gaps	47
	2.9	Research Framework & Hypotheses Development	51
		2.9.1 Research Framework	51
		2.9.2 Hypotheses Development	52
	2.10	Chapter Summary	58
3	RESI	EARCH METHODOLOGY	60
	3.1	Introduction	60
	3.2	Research Design	60
	3.3	Instrumentation Design	60
	3.4	Scale Measurement of Variables	62
	3.5	Sampling Technique	65
	3.6	Data Collection Procedures	66
		3.6.1 Pre-Test	67
		3.6.2 Pilot Study	67
		3.6.3 Actual Survey	68
	3.7	Data Analysis Techniques	69
		3.7.1 Frequency Analysis	69
		3.7.2 Descriptive Analysis	69
		3.7.3 Reliability Analysis	70
		3.7.4 Pearson Correlation Analysis	70
		3.7.5 Multiple Regression Analysis	71
		3.7.6 Test of Mediation	72
	3.8	Chapter Summary	73
4	RESU	ULTS AND DISCUSSIONS	74
	4.1	Introduction	74
	4.2	Respondent Rate	74
	4.3	Frequency Analysis	74
	4.4	Descriptive Analysis	77
		4.4.1 Mean Score and Standard Deviation Analysis	79
		4.4.2 Descriptive Statistic of All Principal Constructs	80
	4.5	Reliability Analysis	83
	4.6	Pearson Correlation Analysis	84
	4.7	Multiple Regression Analysis	87
		4.7.1 The Relationship between the Independent Variables and	
		the Dependent Variable	87
		4.7.2 The Relationship between the Independent and the	
		Mediating Variable	89
		4.7.3 The Relationship between the Mediating Variable and the	
		Dependent Variable	91
	4.8	Tests of Mediation	92
	4.9	Discussions of Study Findings	95
		4.9.1 Key Factors Influencing Malaysian HEIs'	
		Internationalisation Performance	95
		4.9.2 The Relationship between Financial Conditions,	
		Marketing Strategies, HEIs' Reputation and HEIs'	
		International Students' Management with Malaysian	
		HEIs' Internationalisation Performance	95

		4.9.3 The Relationship between Financial Conditions,	
		Marketing Strategies, HEIs' Reputation and HEIs'	
		international students' management with Government	
		Policy	97
		4.9.4 The Relationship between Government Policy and	
		Malaysian HEIs' internationalisation performance	99
		4.9.5 The Mediating Role of Government Policy	99
	4.10	Chapter Summary	99
5	CON	CLUSION, IMPLICATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	100
	5.1	Introduction	100
	5.2	Conclusion	100
	5.3	Implications of the Study	103
		5.3.1 Theoretical Implication	103
		5.3.2 Implications for HEIs' Management	104
		5.3.3 Implications for the Government	106
	5.4	Limitations of the Study	106
	5.5	Recommendations for Future Research	107
	5.6	Chapter Summary	107
REFER			108
		FSTUDENT	180
PUBLIC	CATIC	DN	181

## LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
1.1	Malaysian government expenditure on education (Total % of GDP) from the year 2004-2017	11
1.2	International students' enrolment at local HEIs based on continents as of 31st December 2018	14
1.3	Projection of international students' enrolment at local HEIs as of 31st December 2018	15
1.4	Asian neighbour's ranking according to the U21 Report	16
1.5	Top five Malaysian universities according to QS World University Ranking	17
1.6	Top five Malaysian universities according to QS Asia University Ranking	17
1.7	Definition of Key Terms	22
2.1	Proposed key internationalisation factors	30
2.2	Summary of Study Gaps	48
3.1	Overall measurement of variables	62
3.3	Result of the pilot test	68
4.1	Summary of sample distribution	74
4.2	Demographic profile of respondents	75
4.3	Summaries of descriptive values	78
4.4	Summary of the mean score and standard deviation analysis	81
4.5	Summary of reliability coefficient	84
4.6	Correlation statistics for all variable in the research framework	85
4.7	Correlation of research hypotheses	86
4.8	Relationship between the independent variable and the dependent variable	87
4.9	Summary of multiple regression analysis between the independent and the dependent variable	89
4.10	Relationship between the independent variable and mediating variable	90
4.11	Summary of multiple regression analysis between the independent variables and the mediating variable	91
4.12	Multiple regression analysis results between the mediating and the dependent variable	92

4.13	between the mediating and the dependent variable	92
4.14	The indirect effect of independent variables on dependent variable	93
4.15	Direct effect of independent variable on dependent variable	93
4.16	Summary of mediation effect of government policy on the relationship between financial conditions, marketing strategies, HEIs' reputation, HEIs' international student management and	
	Malaysian HEIs' internationalisation performance	94
5.1	Summary of research objectives, research questions and hypotheses testing	101

## LIST OF FIGURES

Figur	re	Page
2.1	Theoretical framework	31
2.2	Research framework	51
3.1	G-Power sample size calculation	66



#### LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

CA Cronbach's Alpha

EMGS Education Malaysia Global Services
ETP Economic Transformation Program

GDP Gross Domestic Product
HEIs Higher Education Institutions

HiCoe Higher Institutions Centres of Excellence
ICT Information and Communication Technology
IIUM International Islamic Universiti Malaysia

KPI Key Performance Index

MEB(HE) Malaysia Education Blueprint (Higher Education)

MoA Memorandum of Agreement
MoU Memorandum of Understanding

MOE Ministry of Education

MOHE Ministry of Higher Education

NHESP National Higher Education Strategic Plan Beyond

OECD Organisation for Economic Co-Operation and Development

PHEI Private Higher Education Institutions
PSO Proactive Stakeholder Orientation

QS Quacquarelli Symonds ROI Return on Investment

RSO Responsive Stakeholder Orientation

RU Research University

UKM Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia

UM Universiti Malaya

UNESCO United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organisation

UPM Universiti Putra Malaysia
UTM Universiti Teknologi Malaysia
USIM Universiti Sains Islam Malaysia

UK United Kingdom

US United States of America

#### **CHAPTER 1**

#### INTRODUCTION

## 1.1 Background of the Study

Demand in globalisation had a significant impact on the higher education sector across the world. With the rapid economic growth especially among developing countries, dramatic developments in higher education and increased demand for academic and professional graduates in the labour workforce, have heightened the need for countries and higher education institutions (HEIs) around the world to address the challenges of globalisation in higher education. Hence, incorporating the best internationalisation strategies in the higher education system is a primary concern to stay competitive in the global higher education landscape.

#### 1.1.1 The Globalisation of Higher Education

Studies of Knight (2004) suggested that motivation and rationales to internationalise differs between countries and countries intention to internationalise may be divided into four categories:

- i. political rationale (issues regarding national security and the national competitiveness position and role in the global market);
- ii. economic rationale (to accomplish the objectives of producing skilled human resources needed for international competitiveness and promotes economic growth from recruiting international students);
- iii. academic rationale (to enhance the international dimension of teaching, learning and research to increase the overall quality of higher education system; and
- iv. social/cultural dimension (improving understanding and respect towards intercultural differences).

On the other hand, Qiang (2003) argued that internationalisation of higher education is part of the globalisation process and should be given a more profound definition to complete its function. Thus, the researcher had provided conception and organisational framework of higher education, which stated four fundamental approaches to describe the concept of internationalisation, which is:

- i. the activity approach (describing activities such as curriculum, student/faculty exchange, technical assistance and international student's recruitment);
- ii. the competency approach (emphasises the development of skills, knowledge, attitudes and values in students, faculty and staff to become internationally knowledgeable and intercultural skilled that will contribute to the labour workforce;
- iii. the ethos approach (emphasises creating a culture that supports international initiatives within an organisation); and

iv. the process approach (integration of organisational culture, policies and procedures with academic activities to sustain internationalisation).

The researcher also suggested that a country's national policies for internationalisation are a mixture of various rationales such as political, economic, academic and cultural/social where changes in the past and possible foreseen changes in future interact with international and national forces. Hence, to make sure the internationalisation process succeeds and sustainable, academic activities (such as academic programs, research collaboration, extra-curricular activities and external relations and services) and organisational factors (such as governance, operation and support services) were essential elements in internationalisation that should be taken into consideration in implementing internationalisation strategies.

Next, in terms of the higher education context, previous studies have pointed out the importance of internationalisation. Knight and Morshidi (2011) pointed out that internationalisation of higher education matters most because it helps to increase national income, enhance national competitiveness, improve host's country international trade links and promote economic growth through employment opportunities for locals to sell goods and services to international students. Apart from that, internationalisation also helps to create a pool of well holistic talents equipped with expected competent and intercultural skills, have cross-cultural respect and understanding for differences and can cooperate well with people from various culture and education background. In returns, it enables the graduates to compete in the highly competitive global market workforce, to supplement the ageing and decreased population and contributes to the host's country's innovation, productivity and economic growth (Chen & Lo, 2013; Knight & Morshidi, 2011). In addition, internationalisation of higher education also helps to create national identities conducive to both competitiveness and regional cooperation through educating with graduates global proficiencies and have a sense of patriotism and loyalty to their home country (Zheng, 2014), which also contributes in promoting social and cultural diversity of a country Hammond (2016).

Moreover, in a specific area of research and development, internationalisation of higher education solved the problem of crucial specialisation and fund allocation matters through collaborative and intensive international cooperation (Qiang, 2003). It also contributes to increases in high impact research capacities and innovation in higher education through research and development activities. Furthermore, internationalisation of higher education helps to enrich social, cultural and intellectual diversity of the academic community. It also benefit the students and university's staff in terms of enhancing their communication skills, increase their skills, knowledge and understanding in handling global perspectives, increase the ability to appreciate ethnic and cultural diversity, promote team spirit in a multicultural environment, hence, improving the overall quality of higher education and the university's ranking on the global ranking measure (Chong, 2014; Shahijan, Rezaei, & Amin, 2015).

Therefore, it can be concluded that internationalisation of higher education plays an essential role for countries and HEIs to build their reputation, compete and sustain in the global market of higher education.

#### 1.1.2 Challenges in Global Higher Education

Rapid changes in globalisation, growing global trends in the economy and the advancement in information technology had created new dimensions for a higher education system which creates challenges for countries and HEIs across the world to prioritise internationalisation of higher education to stay competitive and sustain in the global market.

To start with, societies today are faced with the transformation process from industrial to the globalised knowledge society, showing an increase in numbers of students pursuing tertiary education, across national borders (Sirat, 2010). The motivation for international student mobility differs according to individual perception and need. Therefore, many countries have emphasized on meeting the increasing demand for higher education and expansion of knowledge by providing greater access to higher education, offer a diversity and flexibility of programs that suits the international demand and strive to increase the research development and innovation capacities to stay competitive in the globalization of higher education landscape, locally and internationally (Azman, Sirat, & Ahmad, 2014).

Next, globalisation in higher education had reshaped the political views of education from the traditional transfer of knowledge to "knowledge economy" which affected education policies and practices across the world. The country uses education as a means for economic growth and creates global competitiveness, therefore encourage the inflow of international students to the country and restrict locals from going abroad (Byun & Kim, 2011; Marginson & van der Wende, 2007a). However, the cross border activity of students and fierce competition for skilful researchers and academic talents to the best HEIs with good quality and reputation will create risks of Brain Drain and harmful to the national research system to some countries (Davenport, 2004; Lepori, Seeber, & Bonaccorsi, 2015). To overcome this, inculcating national identities, instilling patriotism and sense of loyalty to home countries will be beneficial for countries to ensure patriotic graduates with a strong sense of national pride will return and serve towards the economic prosperity of their home countries (Hammond, 2016).

Also, from political aspects and national security, for some countries like Malaysia, the issue of Brain Gain may become a national concern. Although the Government encourages for international talents recruitment, in reality, this scenario may lead to the political instability of the country especially when the demand and unemployment rates among local graduates are high and employing international experts will be seen as decreasing the employability chances of locals (Lee, 2014; Sirat, 2010). The use of English language as a medium of communication and learning in universities is also seen as conflicting to national aspirations of the use of national language (Sirat, 2010).

Another big challenge of globalisation in higher education is that there is a gap of interpretation of the meaning of internationalisation between policymakers or stakeholders in a country and local institutional needs and capability. Moreover, in response to major cutbacks in funding by Governments, most HEIs, especially for private institutions, were forced to seek opportunities through internationalisation to survive in

the globalised knowledge-intensive economy. For some less prestigious or small private HEIs, recruiting international students to generate revenues is just a way to survive in the competitive market. However, to sustain in the marketplace, they need to have adequate resources and facilities. Scarce resources and limited facilities may result with not only they could not attract international students adequately but also faced with understaffing problems and created a high-stress level among employees. Means to achieve quantity in international recruitments to fill the unoccupied place by locals may result with the poor quality of education and service delivery; implying that internationalisation maybe is meant to survive rather than as a tool to pursuit overall quality excellence of higher education (Chen & Lo, 2013).

Besides, as governments encourage HEIs to become more business-oriented and give full autonomy to HEIs to direct their institutions, an academician in the university was forced to involve in managerial activities as well as teaching and research activities. The increasing burden may create conflicts and problems within the university's setting environment. Thus, the university's management plays an important role in determining the satisfaction level of the academicians as their teaching and research activities will be driven by their satisfaction level that will then determine their commitment level (Santiago, Carvalho, Amaral, & Meek, 2006). Thus, the primary motivation of internationalisation must be distinguished between emphasising on academic and sociocultural values, or it is just for the sake of economic or political advantage only. To ensure maximum benefits of investment and resource allocation in the internationalisation process, both policymakers and stakeholders should possess greater understanding and synchronisation of policy initiatives implementation (Abd Aziz & Abdullah, 2014).

While this may be true, for HEIs, the primary challenge in attracting international student is to strengthen their research capacity and improve their role in establishing quality education services without compromising equality of opportunity and depending much on funding from Government (H. Gül, S. Gül, Kaya, & Alican, 2010). HEIs must develop a more effective quality assurance system and set up accreditation agencies to preserve the quality of education and diminish the number of academic fraud. Sirat (2010) added that HEIs must also ensure fair access of education to all particularly to the socioeconomically disadvantaged groups and the need to look at issue of promoting social participation of disadvantaged group into education system and gender mainstreaming issue in education where there is a disproportionately high extent by women whilst opportunities for allocation is still low.

In terms of building the brand name and reputation, apart from setting a clear mission and vision statement and implement internationalisation strategies accordingly to achieve organisation targets, HEIs need to address the issue of increased risk of local knowledge, culture, norms and values being internationalized as more international students being recruited into the country because it will cause the country to lose sight of its core values and derails the functions of higher education (Abd Aziz & Abdullah, 2014; Byun & Kim, 2011; Gül et al., 2010). Hence, to ensure the quality of higher education and gain global reputation, without neglecting the values of nation and society, HEIs need to provide means for students to increase international literacy by developing programs and curriculum that is internationally recognised and accepted.

Internationalized curriculum and programs that support cross-cultural differences and competence will enable students to prepare themselves to embrace competition in the globalised market, encourages networking and international collaboration, ability to solve the problem creatively and efficiently and respects the multicultural differences across the nation (Ardakani, Yarmohammadian, Abari, & Fathi, 2011).

Following, the sustainability and competitiveness of HEIs also depend on how the HEIs integrates their internationalisation strategies to attract international staff and student, increase their research capacity and innovation to gain global reputation and providing organisational support to all players in the institution. All these factors will determine the degree of perception of international students when choosing an institution (Ramanathan, Thambiah, & Raman, 2012). Therefore, due to strict competition in a domestic and global market and financial constraint, HEIs should consider their reputation and country's attractiveness when designing their internationalisation strategies in terms of hiring experts to attract international students. The decision whether to hire international experts as means to attract international students to their institutions or retain their best graduates to support and contributes in the reinforcement of higher quality of education will shape the future internationalisation of the particular HEI and to the country in general (Lepori et al., 2015).

Furthermore, competing in a world of globalisation, education is no longer a process of transferring knowledge and attitudes to new generations by lectures, note-taking and memorising in classrooms or emphasises on the process of learning, preferably it is a process of self-learning where students learn through self-regulating, communicating and collaborating with others. Barriers to communication represented by distance is no longer a problem with the rapid advancements in ICT's technology through wireless and mobile internet access. The extensive use of the internet, video sharing portals, virtual social networking (Facebook, YouTube and Twitters) provides new means of providing and sharing of knowledge which connects millions of people around the world in just seconds. This new trend of borderless education enables a student to seek knowledge beyond classrooms and across the border, transforming students to be educators. Therefore, HEIs across the world must be ready to develop global learning competencies and provide a more diverse learning environment such as offering open course materials and broadcasting lectures and conducting webinars and need to re-strategize their internationalisation efforts accordingly so that they could remain competitive in the global knowledge economy (Gül et al., 2010; Kahn & Agnew, 2016; Wit, Yemini, & Martin, 2015).

Finally, well-versed and knowledgeable cross-cultural competence scholars will create a diverse pool of talent in the labour market that will benefit the host countries. Thus, HEIs must address the challenge to prepare and develop students to become knowledgeable and skilful graduates who can reason outside the box and possess cross-cultural competence so that they could compete in the globalised knowledge market. Being able to do so will increase HEIs' reputation in global university ranking, which is vital to attracting prospective students (Hammond, 2016; Marginson & van der Wende, 2007b).

## 1.2 Higher Education Internationalisation Strategies in Developing Countries

The need to internationalise has become a part of developing countries agendas due to globalisation and rapid growth of international trade of higher education that impact its domestic higher education systems, economics and political aspects. For most developing countries, policy-makers view internationalisation and cross border higher education as a tool to promote human talent that contributes to the diversification of host countries skilled labour forces and strengthening international market competition activities (Knight & Morshidi, 2011). The graduates' involvement in trade and business links and immigration of skilful and knowledgeable international students will increase human capital assets to a host country and increase national innovation, productivity and competitiveness of economic growth in the long run (Zheng, 2014).

Consequently, higher education is also regarded as a powerful tool to reduce the social and economic inequalities among citizens and boost the country's economic growth by producing high skilled workers and increase innovation in research and technology development. Hence, maximising the potentials of internationalisation in higher education are the core objectives that countries are seeking to stay competitive in the global higher education market and as a strategy to become the global education hubs. Therefore, most countries and HEIs in the world had allocated huge investment and resources to improve their performance and capability at both domestic and international level, strive to increase research and innovation to build international competition (Hammond, 2016; Lee, 2014).

Subsequently, Bashir (2007) stated that for some developing countries, trade is more important than bilateral aid for higher education due to limited funding. Thus, HEIs must develop new business models to attract more international students and gain more profit from tuition fees and help to increase the spillover effects of other services in the economy. Business models such as offering more choices of high-quality programs at lower costs than existing providers from developed countries, establishing foreign HEIs in the home country and joint venture with reputable HEIs around the world were also implemented. However, the increasing number of student's mobility could also lead to adverse economic effects due to the migration of highly skilled labours to countries that offer higher wages and difficulties in monitoring education qualities from foreign HEIs. Hence, to compete in the global market and maximise Return on Investment (ROI) from trade in higher education, public HEIs in developing countries need to restructure their internationalisation objectives, policies and regulations, funding capabilities and governance issues in line with the country's agendas to promote economic and social development.

As a country's ability to develop and apply technical and socio-economic knowledge is a link to its economic development, the ability to attract and acquire skilful talents has also become crucial for developing countries. Thus, understanding that a country's wealth and strength of the national research system largely influences international talents mobility decision. Therefore, in order to sustain and compete in the globalized knowledge economy beyond national borders, most HEIs had enhanced their effort to maximize the potentials of internationalisation in higher education through

simplification of international talents recruitment policy, offered better perks and opportunities, upgrade facilities and research labs and enhanced international networking to increase their brand name at global market (Lepori et al., 2015).

Besides, in most developing countries, the government uses the performance of higher education internationalisation as a measuring tool to monitor the key performance indicators (KPIs) of HEIs. HEIs must meet the series of KPIs outlined as a means to measure the productivity produced to continue receiving government funding (UNESCO, 2014). Therefore, HEIs were forced to respond quickly and strategically to the rapid change of developments in higher education. To stay abreast and compete in the global competitive higher education market and foster global competitiveness, HEIs need to develop strategic internationalisation strategies to enhance their performance. Attracting international students is considered as one of the effective internationalisation strategies as their presence will not only beneficial in increasing national income and boosting economic growth through revenue generation but will also create a global, international and intercultural dimension in the higher education environment (Knight & Morshidi, 2011).

Moreover, in response to cultural changes and financial reduction from government, while resolving the increasing demand for higher productivity and quality of higher education issues and trying to change from traditional to entrepreneurial university-based, Salmi (2002) proposed that HEIs should increase their innovation. Strategic internationalisation measures such as developing corporate identity with clear institution objectives and priorities, introducing new accreditation methods that allow university to suit their course structure with the market's demands, involved the non-academic professionals into the management team to increase the effectiveness of university administration and create better internal incentives system and academic staff structures, should be incorporated. Likewise, HEIs should also offer study abroad program in collaboration with the international partnership in other countries, recruit international students and internationalising the faculty and programs curricula because it was considered as the most effective internationalisation strategies Cantu (2013).

Also, HEIs may maximise marketing tools by using a differentiation strategy to attract international students. For instance, as more postgraduates are being recruited into Malaysian HEIs, recruiting potential graduates with more significant research and academic capacity to boost the research development and innovation process especially among Research Universities (RUs) (Abd Aziz & Abdullah, 2014; Dahari & Abduh, 2011) and carefully selecting cross-institutional collaborative partners and institution location in order to set high value in market positioning and maintain attractiveness to prospective international students (Jeptoo & Razia, 2012) may be applied.

Apart from that, as demand and needs of international students differ according to their preference, background and culture, maximising marketing tools by focusing on market segmentation and catering to different needs, requirement and expectation may be beneficial to attract international students. Plus, facilities and services offered should be tailored and enhanced according to the factors that are important in the mobility decision of international students (Padlee, Kamaruddin, & Baharun, 2010).

Next, another effective form of marketing strategy to attract international students is by using different language mode as a medium of teaching and learning, apart from English language (Roga, Lapina, & Müürsepp, 2015; Yee, Hazlin, & Mokhtar, 2014). As many countries have loosened restrictions towards the opening of international branch campuses and develop curriculum in to be taught in English, HEIs should consider minimising the drastic change to learn in English especially for students who came from the non-English speaking country because difficulties for some international students in mastering English communication may prevent them from excelling in their studies. Introducing the changes in the delivery of education in a foreign language will provide equal opportunities and promote competitiveness to both local and international students and let them integrate well. It will also be beneficial to attract international students and reduce the emigration of local students. However, Abu Bakar and Abdul Talib (2013) on the contrary stated that the use of English language as a medium of communication and learning might also create confusion and disappointment among international students if the lecturers mix the English language with local language during classes for local students to catch up with the lessons. Hence, the university's management should design proper internationalisation policy and regulations and communicate it well to all the administrative staff to gain full commitment to the internationalisation process.

Lastly, to ensure the effectiveness of internationalisation, Alpha and Vincent (2015) indicates that managerial expertise in developing export strategies, dynamic capabilities of the organization to define strategic management planning to maximize internationalisation strategies profits, ability to manage risk, alliance capabilities in terms of products and services development, foreign market orientation and markets knowledge were vital factors in influencing internationalisation strategies formulation. Managerial expertise was said to have a significant role in determining organisational success and business performance. Hence, to compete and sustain in the global market as well as increasing innovation and quality in their product and services, HEIs must hire the best human resource and carefully design and formulate their internationalisation strategies.

#### 1.3 Malaysia as an International Education Hub

Malaysia aims to become the international hub of educational excellence by the year 2025. The primary motivation to become global education hub is to develop skilled human capital, to promote knowledge creation and innovation and to generate income through the inflow of international students into the country (Abd Aziz & Abdullah, 2014).

Knight and Morshidi (2011) stated that the term 'education hub' is being used by the Middle East and South-East Asia countries who are working to raise their profile and competitiveness in their region to become as regional hubs for international networking, student recruitments and increasing research development and innovation. According to the researchers, countries aims to become an education hub for different motivation and priorities that can be divided into the student hub (aims to attract a number of international students and build a reputation as a quality higher education provider), the skilled workforce training hub (aims to educate and train students to be skilled

knowledge workers and provide increased access to education and professional developments for both local and international students) and the knowledge and innovation hub (aim to build a piece of knowledge and service-based economy, educate and train a skilled workforce and increase knowledge and innovation to attract foreign direct investment and increase regional economic competitiveness.

Moving towards competing in a globalised knowledge-based economy has led to higher demand for research and innovation; thus, greater call for a skilled workforce and talented researchers (Gül et al., 2010). Hence, the major challenge for a country to become an education hub is in terms of its ability and capability to establish capacity building of human resources, not only in developing local talent but also be able to attract international talents and repatriate diasporic talents (Lee, 2014). Thus, the challenge here is whether Malaysia is ready to become a global education hub that focuses on the production of knowledge and innovation and will Malaysia stand competitive enough as compared to other Asian countries who have the same desire to become global education hub? To answer this critical question, let us look at the advantages of Malaysia and its current internationalisation strategies implemented to become the international hub of educational excellence in the year 2025.

#### 1.3.1 Strategic Location

Firstly, Malaysia is located at a strategic location in the South East Asia region where it has direct access to more than 620 million of population and offers varieties of dynamic business opportunities, well-developed infrastructure, full of economic and human resources and excellent quality of life. Malaysia is expected to be one of the fastest-growing hosts of international student hub by the year 2020, alongside China, Singapore and India (British Council, 2012).

## 1.3.2 Higher Education Policy

Starting with Asian Financial Crisis took place in the year 1997, Malaysia had examined a comprehensive economic review to overcome its weaknesses and recover from the recession by exploring new promising sectors which include the internationalisation of higher education sector. Back then, Malaysia had sent many students to pursue higher education abroad so that the students could learn new experience and upgrade knowledge that will be beneficial for the student themselves and the country in general. However, after the financial crisis, continuing this strategy will worsen Malaysia's trade deficit and increasing the foreign exchange rate. Thus, Malaysia had revised this strategy and come out with the alternative to expand private universities with the hope to cater local demands and attract international student at the same time to generate revenue to boost its economic growth (Ministry of Education Malaysia, 2015).

Apart from that, way back in the year 2015, faced with the economic downturn that forced Ringgit Malaysia to be unstable due to the depreciation of the currency at that time, the higher education sector and tourism are significant sectors that are expected to help revive the economy in the short run. Zheng (2014) regarded international student as

a source of income, which helps to boost a country's economy and trade position and, plays an important role in influencing government policy on education. The total expenditure of international students in the country will generate more income and job offerings to the locals through spillover effects as demand for other support services such as in property, retail services and tourism industries increases. Revenue generated from international students through tuition fees can also reduce financial stress on HEIs with limited funding from the government.

Due to that, the Malaysian government emphasises extremely high commitment towards higher education. It is considered as one of the key economic sectors in Malaysia as it has one of the highest multiplier effect and exponential intangible impact where it generates income from within the industry and other support sectors that can generate income and favourable economic returns as outlined in the Economic Transformation Program (ETP). A substantial proportion for education is being allocated from the national budget each year because government believed that investments that can be generated from the enrolment of international students and tourists to Malaysia would encourage the recovery of currencies with a faster pace (Bergeron & Martin, 2015; "Boosting productivity key to Malaysian economic growth: World Bank," 2016; Lock, 2015).

On average, Malaysia had invested 7.7% of its national budget every year on higher education; relative to Gross Domestic Product (GDP), which is the highest percentage among Asian economies and south-east Asia neighbours according to United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organisation (UNESCO) benchmarking (Ministry of Education Malaysia, 2015). GDP is a measure of national income with the output of a country. A relative lower exchange rate and GDP growth have a positive effect on international student's inflows to a country. The higher the host country GDP growth and the lower the home country GDP per capita, will push more international students inflow to the host country especially students from developing countries as value for money is higher (Zheng, 2014).

It was reported that the total GDP in Malaysia was 255.02 billion US dollars (USD) in the year 2010, reached the highest total of 338.06 USD in the year 2014 and the year 2017, it was worth 314.5 billion USD, which represents 0.51% of the world economy. GDP Malaysia growth rate is forecasted to grow at 3.7% worth 380USD billion in the year 2020 ("Malaysia GDP forecast," 2019).

Table 1.1 represents the percentage spends on education and GDP by the Malaysian government from the year 2004 until 2017. It showed that government expenditure on education has a fluctuate rates since the year 2014 where the lowest percentage was in the year 2008, continue rising in until the year 2011, then decreased until the year 2015 and eventually rose again in the year 2016. The highest percentage of government expenditure throughout the 13 years was in the year 2017 (21.06%).

Table 1.1: Malaysian government expenditure on education (Total % of GDP) from the year 2004-2017

Year	Percentage of Government Expenditure	Percentage of the GDP
2004	21.01	5.924
2006	16.75	4.486
2007	16.12	4.373
2008	14.04	3.959
2009	18.46	5.974
2010	18.41	4.966
2011	20.98	5.763
2012	19.93	5.739
2013	19.45	5.481
2014	19.80	5.213
2015	19.81	4.976
2016	20.70	4.828
2017	21.06	4.744

Source: MOHE (2015), Malaysia GDP (2019), Malaysia: government expenditure on education (2019)

Following this, in analysing Malaysia higher education scenario, it is noted that since early 2000, Malaysia had aimed to become a regional education hub and gain maximum profit out of its higher education sector. Malaysia aspiration to become a global education hub was outlined in the fifth thrust of the National Higher Education Strategic Plan Beyond (NHESP) 2020, launched in the year 2007 regarding intensifying internationalisation, Malaysia targets to attract 200,000 international students and become the top six destinations of choice among international students by the year 2020 (Abd Aziz & Abdullah, 2014). Since then, strategies initiatives to become education hub were outlined in every national outline plan (Lee, 2014), embedded in the Economic Transformation Programme, New Economic Model and 10<sup>th</sup> and 11<sup>th</sup> Malaysian Plan which in general, focuses on strategic initiatives regarding the internationalisation of higher education including recruiting international students and experts.

Moreover, in its effort to position Malaysian HEIs to become a hub for higher education and establish global engagement, various international programs have been implemented by the government under NHESP 2020 and National Higher Education Action Plan 2007-2010. It includes bilateral and multilateral cooperation established between developed and developing countries including the establishment of the student's mobility programs between countries and introducing diploma/degree programs jointly with overseas universities, creating Education Malaysia Global Services (EMGS) under the Ministry of Education Malaysia. EMGS serves as a one-stop centre and affairs related to the promotion of international student enrolment to Malaysia, improving and ease the process of visa application and immigration procedures for students/foreign workers,

establish research-based universities to increase and strengthen innovation and research-based activities and provision of scholarships / grants to international students (Ministry of Education Malaysia, 2007, 2011).

MOE is also actively engaged in signing Memorandum of Agreement (MoA) and Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) between local universities and abroad to increased networking and collaboration with participating countries which aimed at enhancing networking and cooperation in terms of education planning, economics and political strengthening. Subsequently, to enable public HEIs to accept challenges of globalisation and compete in the global market and to match the investment with the output of higher education and reduce the dependency of government funding, Malaysian Government had empowered greater autonomy and accountability to most public HEIs. Local HEIs are required to seek an alternative in increasing revenue so that they become financially stable, have more resources and skilled workforce and be more flexible and prudent to run their business effectively and efficiently. Thus, it will allow HEIs to improve in offering quality programs to match both locals continuously, and international students demand and receive a global reputation. To widen the access of education for all qualified students, Malaysian Government also offers scholarships, grants and study loan to locals – revealing how serious the Government is in ensuring equality among locals and highly flexible access to education lane (Ministry of Education Malaysia, 2015). It also encourages lifelong learning by providing various modular programs and collaboration with industry players to produce competent, experienced knowledge workers that have high values in the work market (Grapragasem, Krishnan, & Mansor, 2014).

Additionally, governed by Private Higher Education Institutions (PHEI) Act in 1996, The National Accreditation Board Act 1966 and Private Higher Education Act, the government had allowed local private institutions to cooperate with reputable foreign universities such as Monash University, Curtin University and Nottingham University to establish branch campuses in Malaysia. The establishment and vast expanding of Malaysian private education institutions enable Malaysia not only to attract more international students every year but also help to increase access of higher education for local students and reduce the number of local students to study abroad. Malaysia can now provide diversified international programs and different modes of teaching and learning environment in the Malaysian setting. The Malaysian Qualification Agency (MQA) was later established to accredit all academic programs offered by private HEIs and ensure the quality of programs offered and recognition of the qualification awarded. The higher education business had provided a major source of income to the national GDP and increase foreign exchange and trade deficit (Abd Aziz & Abdullah, 2014; Knight & Morshidi, 2011; Lee, 2014).

Next, proving its seriousness and high commitment to become the global education hub, Malaysian Government had also established learning regions in Iskandar Educity and Kuala Lumpur Education City (KLEC) with the objectives to provide high quality of education at lower cost price, offers world-class facilities and services, develop skilful and knowledgeable human talent and increase international research collaboration in higher education (Knight & Morshidi, 2011). Both educity aims at co-locating top international higher education institutions that would produce a skilled workforce with

international-quality education. A skilled workforce will draw foreign investment and support foreign companies in the zone plus it will also foster academic-industry collaboration that will create a multiplier effect on the Malaysian economy (Azman et al., 2014).

Apart from that, in the 2014 OECD report, the overall cost of studying in Malaysia, after considering purchasing power parity, is relatively low as compared to other developed countries (Ministry of Education Malaysia, 2015). Therefore, with an emphasis on creating the image of 'Malaysia: Quality Education at lower cost', Malaysia is aggressively promoting international students, especially from developing countries to study in Malaysia. The government also provides grants and scholarships to qualified international students to attract them coming to Malaysia especially good students from developing countries to help them gain access to the local university and survive during their study life in Malaysia. Scholarships to promising candidates who are believed to be future leaders of a country will benefit Malaysia in future political and business relations.

Hence, although Malaysia had started its higher education journey by imparting knowledge and structures in higher education from well-known higher education providers, however, through strengthening networks and internationalisation of its higher education system, support from private sector and huge investment in higher education allocated each year by the Government, Malaysia is now one of the global players known by its academic and research excellence. All the internationalisation executed thus far has proved a worthy investment where Malaysia was now recognised worldwide and reported to be among the top selections for international students to pursue their higher education.

According to a study by UNESCO in 2014, Malaysia had become the choice for international students because of the rich culture and quality of life, quality of education offered, international recognised programs along with a reasonable education fee and the use of English as a medium of instruction. Other important consideration selection factors includes social/political stability, ease of access to university's services and infrastructure, customer focus, location, qualification of the teaching staff, specialized field and, low fees and cost of living, secure internet access, top-notch staff, Muslim country and availability of financial aids (British Council, 2008; Institut Penyelidikan Pendidikan Tinggi Negara, 2009; Jani, Zubairi, Huam, & Ngah, 2010; Padlee et al., 2010).

As showed in Table 1.2, in the year 2016 to the year 2018, international students from Asian countries dominated total enrolments, followed by students from African countries. Enrolments of international students from Asian countries increased by 1.74% from 97,205 in 2016 to 98,886 in 2018. However, total students' enrolments from African countries fell by 3.94% from 31,058 in 2016 as compared with 29,835 in the year 2018. Therefore, it appears that the higher education internationalisation strategies implemented by the Government have successfully attracted international students (Jani et al., 2010).

Table 1.2: International students' enrolment at local HEIs based on continents as of 31st December 2018

		2016			2017	2017 2018				
Region	Public HEIs	Private HEIs	Total*	Public HEIs	Private HEIs	Total*	Public HEIs	Private HEIs	Total*	
Africa	6,815	24,243	31,058	6,606	24,229	30,835	8,847	20,988	29,835	
Asia	23,158	74,047	97,205	25,720	75,453	101,173	29,352	69,534	98,886	
Australia	51	272	323	55	227	282	24	253	277	
Europe	350	822	1,172	497	601	1,098	199	633	832	
North America	133	239	372	137	229	366	106	274	380	
South America	18	56	74	22	26	48	10	25	35	
Others	73	0	73	58	0	58	0	0	0	
Total	30,598	99,679	130,277	33,095	100,765	133,860	38,538	91,707	130,245	

Note: \*Data does not include international students studying in Sabah & Sarawak Source: Ministry of Education Malaysia (2018)

#### 1.3.3 Internationalisation Performance

From the internationalisation strategies executed to date, Malaysia had gained ROI as follows:

#### 1.3.3.1 Widening Access to Higher Education for all

In Malaysia, its higher education system is categorised into public and private education institutions whose establishment is aimed at strengthening both human capital development and widens access to education and public equity. Branding universities formed to compete in the ability to build a reputation with a dynamic, competitive, and able to predict the future challenges ready to respond effectively in line with global developments.

Consequently, universities in Malaysia were categorised into three groups: research universities (RU), focus universities (technical, educational, management and defence courses) and comprehensive universities. Up to now, there is 20 public on which five universities are clustered as RUs, 70 private universities, 91 college communities, 33 polytechnics, 410 private colleges, 34 private university college and 14 higher institutions centres of excellence (HiCoe). Overall, the establishment is with the ultimate goal of widening access to higher education through increasing the number of seats and to produce quality products to match the domestic and international demand ("Malaysia higher education institutions," 2018). Thus, widening access to tertiary education for locals and attract international students that set the pace for Malaysia to become an education hub (Abd Aziz & Abdullah, 2014).

Furthermore, Malaysia has set a target to attract 250,000 international students in higher learning institutions and schools by the year 2025, whereby 80% of the international students will pursue their studies at the higher education level (Ministry of Education Malaysia, 2015). As shown in Table 1.3, Malaysia has achieved the yearly target for international students' enrolment except for the year 2018, which recorded 130,245 enrolments as compared with the targeted number of 144,000. In this regard, Malaysia needs to take steps to accelerate the growth of international students' enrolment to ensure that the target set for the year 2025 is achieved.

Table 1.3: Projection of international students' enrolment at local HEIs as of 31st December 2018

Year	Proje	ection	Total	Ac	tual	Total
	Public HEIs	Private HEIs		Public HEIs	Private HEIs	
2014	33,600	77,000	110,600	32,842	74,996	107,838
2015	36,000	79,045	115,045	33,369	88,665	122,034
2016	38,400	91,000	129,400	30,598	99,679	130,277
2017	40,800	95,200	136,000	33,095	100,765	133,860
2018	43,200	100,800	144,000	38,538	91,707	130,245
2019	45,600	106,400	152,000			-
2020	48,000	112,000	160,000			
2021	50,400	117,600	168,000			
2022	52,800	123,200	176,000			
2023	55,200	128,800	184,000			
2024	57,600	134,400	192,000			
2025	60,000	140,000	200,000	/		/

Source: Ministry of Education Malaysia (2018)

#### 1.3.3.2 Research Development and Innovation

Between the year 2007 and 2012, the number of publications had increased by more than threefold (Malaysian RU contributed 70% of the total number) and a number of patents filed by local HEIs grew by 11% each year. The number of citations had increased by fourfold from 2005-2012. Malaysian RUs also contributed as solution providers in the market which provide research and consultancy services for industries, agencies and community generating RM1.25billion in revenues within the stipulated years (Ministry of Education Malaysia, 2015).

#### 1.3.3.3 Global Reputation

According to the U21 report, in terms of overall ranking out of 50 countries, Malaysia fell to ranked 27<sup>th</sup> in 2019 from ranking 19<sup>th</sup> in 2017. Next, comparing the overall performance with neighbouring ASEAN countries, in terms of resource allocation, Malaysia was ranked 8<sup>th</sup> out of 50 countries in 2019 (initially was 12th in 2014 and 1<sup>st</sup> in 2017 report) (Williams & Leahy, 2019; Williams, Leahy, & Jensen, 2017), which among the neighbouring Asian countries, Malaysia showed the highest commitment towards higher education. However, when it comes to an output measure, although Malaysia invested a large number of resources as compared to neighbouring Asian countries, Malaysia was ranked at number 41 in the year 2019. It reflects that the investment in resources has not yielded the outcome compared to other Asian countries listed in the top 50 such as Singapore which ranked 32<sup>nd</sup> in resources but ranked 25<sup>th</sup> in output as well as Korea which ranked 37<sup>th</sup> for resources and ranked 27<sup>th</sup> for output measure in 2019.

Table 1.4: Asian neighbour's ranking according to the U21 Report

No	Country		erall nk	Reso	urces	Enviro	onment	Conne	Connectivity		tput
		2017	2019	2017	2019	2017	2019	2017	2019	2017	2019
1	Malaysia	19	27	1	8	13	9	28	32	25	41
2	Singapore	20	23	33	32	4	6	29	27	18	25
3	Hong Kong	26	30	24	34	6	4	21	34	35	32
4	Korea	34	36	29	37	42	42	42	44	26	27
5	Thailand	45	45	47	43	26	25	16	23	49	47
6	Indonesia	50	50	50	49	29	28	31	41	50	50
	Types of Metrics Used	of The average score of the four dimensions		Governexpendinvestrand Ro	diture, ments	Qualita assessr policy regulat environ	nent of and ory	globall	t	Resear output, institut ranking enrolm and employ	ion's

Source: Williams et al. (2017); Williams and Leahy (2019)

In terms of global ranking, according to Quacquarelli Symonds (QS) world university rankings and QS Asia ranking, the overall ranking of Malaysian top five universities improved each year as shown in Table 1.5 and Table 1.6. In the QS world university ranking 2020, UM was listed at number 70 from number 146 in 2016, followed by UPM at number 159 in 2020 as compared to number 331 in 2016. Whereas for QS Asia university ranking, all five top universities were listed as top 50 rankings for two consecutive years in 2018 and 2019.

Table 1.5: Top five Malaysian universities according to QS World University Ranking

University / Year	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020
UM	146	133	114	87	70
UPM	331	270	229	202	159
UTM	303	288	253	228	217
UKM	312	302	230	184	160
USM	289	330	264	207	165

Source: QS world university rankings (2016; 2017; 2018; 2019; 2020)

Table 1.6: Top five Malaysian universities according to QS Asia University Ranking

University / Year	2014	2015	2016	2018	2019		
UM	32	29	27	24	19		
UPM	76	66	49	36	34		
UTM	66	61	63	49	47		
UKM	56	56	55	43	41		
USM	57	49	51	46	43		

Source: QS Asia university rankings (2014; 2015; 2016; 2018; 2019)

Based on the performance of current internationalisation strategies, it appears that higher education internationalisation strategies that have been implemented by the Government so far has attracted international students from developing countries, which signals the important role of Malaysia in facilitating the development of future leaders from the countries (Jani et al., 2010). Thus, Malaysia is on the right track to position itself as an international student hub. However, to become the global education hub, Malaysia needs to enhance its strategic higher education internationalisation measures and increase international collaboration apart from recruiting a more international student to benefit the maximum ROI. Budgetary constraints and rising costs of higher education require improvements in productivity and efficiency of the overall higher education system. Hence, the transformation of the internationalisation strategies that are more global and competitive in nature will stimulate the academic development in Malaysia as well as to ensure its investment in higher education generates the desired outcome and to increase public performance and achieve higher standards in the eyes of the world community, hence achieve its target to become the global education hub by year 2025.

#### 1.4 Problem Statement

Malaysia aims to be highly recognised, competitive and able to produce graduates who are not only knowledgeable and resourceful but also marketable (Lee, 2014). Therefore, Malaysia had invested an average of 7.7% of its annual budget on higher education (Ministry of Education Malaysia, 2015). According to the 2017 U21 Report, based on UNESCO's benchmark, Malaysia has the highest resource commitment for education (ranked 1st out of 50 countries). However, Malaysia was ranked 8th in terms of resources commitment (Williams et al., 2017). For the overall performance among Asian countries, in the year 2017, Malaysia was at the first rank, but in 2019, Malaysia was ranked second behind Singapore (Williams & Leahy, 2019).

In terms of quality, despite the increasing rate from 70% to 75% graduate employability rate in Malaysia from year 2006 to 2014, there is also rising concerns from employers regarding the lack of critical thinking, communication skills and English language proficiency of graduates which are essential for them to compete in the global market, reflecting the inadequacy of graduates skills and knowledge as well as a miss-match with what the market needs. Also, the issues of incompatible skills and short of supply of skilled graduates in a crucial segment of the industry are another critical industrial gap that needs to be addressed to ensure that the target to become the education excellence by the year 2025 could be achieved (Ministry of Education Malaysia, 2015).

Besides, in the U21 report, the unemployment rate was measured across two groups of people who either have tertiary education or post-secondary non-tertiary education among population group of 25-64 years old to determine the value of tertiary education by the increased likelihood of employability. Hence, in terms of output measure of higher education (which measure international institutional rankings, graduates' employability rates, research output and enrolments), Malaysia was ranked 25th out of 50 countries in the 2017 U21 report. However, in the 2019 U21 report, surprisingly, Malaysia fell to ranked 41<sup>th</sup> out of 50 countries listed. Hence, Malaysia has to face the challenge of lifting the level of output to match the committed resources and strive to increase its internationalisation performance. Addressing this gap is pertinent to the future growth and development of Malaysia's higher education industry (Williams & Leahy, 2019; Williams et al., 2017).

The globalisation and its discontents, the increasing growth of the global knowledge economy and the advancement in information technology, had a serious impact on global higher education development. Therefore, from the views of academic gaps, because international students' mobility decision influential factors may change over time, varies according to countries' pull factors and students' and student's motivation differs across developed and developing countries (Zheng, 2014), there has been slight agreement on what can be regarded as the best internationalisation strategies for HEIs particularly in attracting international students. There are also very limited studies examining international students' satisfaction, particularly in Malaysia (Hasan & Masri, 2015) that warrants for further investigation.

As Malaysia aims to become the global educational excellence by the year 2025, attracting international students is, therefore, crucial. However, total student enrolments at local HEIs decreased by 2.7% in the year 2018 (Ministry of Education Malaysia, 2018). Hence, further steps to increase the international students' enrolment at local HEIs need to be taken and implemented to ensure that the target to attract 250,000 international students by the year 2025 will be achieved.

To attract international students, Malaysia and HEIs need to understand the different needs and expectations of international students regarding higher education and consider the push-pull factors that influence international students' mobility decision to Malaysia. However, studies on what is the best marketing strategies to attract international student are very limited (Dahari & Abduh, 2011) and the information on this matter is vague as students' preferences might change over time and across borders. Therefore, there is an urgent need to continuously investigating the issue so that proper and effective marketing strategies to promote the quality of higher education in Malaysia and the products and services offered as well as marketing policies that suits specific needs and preferences of potential international students can be developed and implemented, in order for Malaysia to stay competitive in the global higher education landscape (Baharun, Awang, & Padlee, 2011). For that reason also, satisfying current students perception and satisfaction level is vital because it plays a crucial role in determining a university's success rate and also is an essential tool to enhance the university's perceived service quality (Abdullah, 2006a), as well as potential students, could be easily attracted through positive word of mouth promotion of satisfied students (Ngamkamollert & Ruangkanjanases, 2015).

Also, as countries and HEIs compete fiercely in the global market to attract international students, the debate on the determinants of international student's mobility trend continues, raising the questions concerning the importance of coordination and monitoring of international student's perception and satisfaction. As students' satisfaction is crucial in determining the quality of higher education services and survival of HEIs due to the stiff global competition, understanding the influential factors in international students' mobility decision and satisfaction level would enable HEIs to identify and understand the significant factors of student loyalty behaviour as well as understanding the withdrawal and retention pattern (Katircioglu, Mehtap-Smadi, Kilinç, & Unlücan, 2012). Withdrawals of students and retention rate may incur high institutional and personal costs to the university. Therefore, reducing the retention rates among dissatisfied students is crucial to ensure the university's survival (Baharun et al., 2011). Hence, HEIs need to develop and implement strategic internationalisation measures to increase its internationalisation performance and gain the maximum benefits of internationalisation so that it can help to attract international students to come to Malaysia and help promote Malaysian HEIs to prospective international students.

Noting that there is a very limited number of studies investigating the internationalisation performance of Malaysian HEIs, there is an urgent need to identify the key internationalisation factors that contribute to internationalisation performance among Malaysian HEIs. The mediating role of government policy in the relationship between the factors which have been identified and Malaysian HEIs' internationalisation performance will also improve understanding of the phenomenon of interest.

## 1.5 Research Questions

In this study, the following research questions were addressed:

- i. What are the key factors influencing the internationalisation performance of Malaysian HEIs?
- ii. What are the relationships between financial conditions, marketing strategies, HEIs' reputation, HEIs' international students' management with Malaysian HEIs' internationalisation performance?
- iii. What are the relationships between financial conditions, marketing strategies, HEIs' reputation, HEIs' international student management with government policy?
- iv. What is the relationship between government policy and Malaysian HEIs' internationalisation performance?
- v. Does government policy mediate the relationships between financial conditions, marketing strategies, HEIs' reputation, HEIs' international students' management and Malaysian HEIs' internationalisation performance?

### 1.6 Research Objectives

The general aim of this study is to identify the key internationalisation factors influencing Malaysian HEIs internationalisation performance and to investigate whether government policy mediates the relationships between key internationalisation factors and Malaysian HEIs internationalisation performance. In order to achieve this objective, specifically, the research objectives are:

- i. To determine the key factors influencing the internationalisation performance of Malaysian HEIs.
- ii. To investigate the relationships between financial conditions, marketing strategies, HEIs' reputation and, HEIs' international student management with Malaysian HEIs' internationalisation performance.
- iii. To investigate the relationships between financial conditions, marketing strategies, HEIs' reputation and, HEIs' international students' management with government policy.
- iv. To investigate the relationship between government policy and Malaysian HEIs' internationalisation performance.
- v. To investigate whether government policy mediates the relationships between financial conditions, marketing strategies, HEIs' reputation, HEIs' international student management and Malaysian HEIs' internationalisation performance.

## 1.7 The Scope of the Study

Malaysia was chosen in this study as it is ranked 12th among the top 20 recruiters of international students globally (Guardian, 2017) and the first ranking among other Asian countries in terms of investment and expenditure in higher education, relative to GDP (Williams et al., 2017).

The sample of the respondent is international students who are currently pursuing their postgraduates' studies at Malaysian five public universities in Klang Valley, Malaysia. The selected HEIs were four research universities (RUs) including Universiti Putra Malaysia (UPM), Universiti Malaya (UM), Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia (UKM), Universiti Teknologi Malaysia (KL Campus), and one non-RU which is International Islamic University Malaysia (IIUM). The four RUs were chosen because they were listed among the top five RUs in Malaysia with rankings below 250 based on QS world university rankings in the year 2019 ("QS World university rankings 2019," 2019) and listed among the top 30 according to QS Asia Rankings in the year 2018 ("QS Asia university rankings 2019," 2019). Moreover, the four RUs were also rated as five-star rating according to QS Stars Ratings 2019 ("QS Stars university ratings," 2019).

For IIUM, it was also selected in this study although it was listed at ranking 651-700 according to QS World Rankings 2020 ("QS World university rankings 2020," 2020) and is listed at ranking number 143 in Asia World Ranking 2019 ("QS Asia university rankings 2019," 2019), because it is recognised as an international university. IIUM also has the largest population of international students among public universities in Malaysia ("University highlights 2019," 2019). Furthermore, IIUM is also selected as it is listed as four stars rating according to QS Stars Rating System 2019 ("QS Stars university ratings," 2019).

## 1.8 The Significance of the Research

In line with a Shift Number-8 on Global Prominence outlined in the Malaysia Education Blueprint (Higher Education) 2015-2025 and Malaysia's aspiration in producing a winning personality, knowledgeable and virtuous outlined in the Eleventh Malaysia Plan 2016-2020, the result of this study is expected to contribute in theoretical and practical contribution as follows:

#### 1.8.1 Theoretical Significance

Theoretically, the results of this study provide knowledge and information to the Push-Pull Model (McMahon, 1992) about international students' mobility decision key factors that influence their decision to pursue higher education in Malaysia. The results of this study also contribute to increased knowledge and understanding The Course Continuance Behavioural Theory (Bhattacherjee, 2001) concerning the key internationalisation factors that influence international students' satisfaction and loyalty behaviour. Understanding the key internationalisation factors will enable HEIs to increase the quality of products and services offered, thus increasing its internationalisation performance. Hence findings of this study contribute to the proliferation of academic and research at local universities.

Findings also contribute to confirming The Public Policy Theory, where results proved the mediating role of government policy in the relationship between internationalisation key factors and Malaysian HEIs' internationalisation performance (Dil, 1997). Therefore, the findings of this study demonstrated the role of government in aiding HEIs

to build their brand name and reputation and helping them to compete and sustain in the global market.

## 1.8.2 Practical Significance

Significantly, the results of this study also contribute information to the government and HEIs on a more sustainable and effective internationalisation strategies in order to compete and sustain the global higher education market, to keep pace impact of globalization in higher education market and bring a significant Return on Investment (ROI) to the country in terms of economic growth, political stability, the increasing socio-economic and development of the higher education system. Hence, it contributes to ensuring the target to become the international hub of educational excellence by the year 2025, be achieved.

Results of this study also contribute information to the government in terms of providing knowledge related to research and concrete report with extensive information for national development plans and policies in the internationalisation of higher education context. Also, studies in the field of strategic management and effective delivery of services will offer solutions from the approaches of quantitative methods and measurement that will give an advantage to the government to enhance the formulation and implementation of the most effective higher education internationalisation strategies to compete and sustain in the global market.

# 1.9 Definition of Key Terms

Table 1.7 presents the definitions of key terms in this study.

**Table 1.7: Definition of Key Terms** 

Key Terms		Definition
1	Globalisation	Globalisation is described as the set of larger socioeconomic forces such as technology, economy, knowledge, people, values, and ideas that shape the world across borders (Knight, 2004).
2	Internationalisation	Internationalisation refers to as the "process of integrating an international, intercultural, or global dimension into the purpose, functions or delivery of postsecondary education" which includes policies and practices undertaken to match globalisation (Knight, 2004) or in other words, how institutions respond to globalisation is called internationalisation.
3	Higher education	It is defined as education beyond the secondary level, especially education at the college or university level (www.meriamwebstar.com).

Key Terms		Definition
4	International student	International student refers to those students who chose to pursue pursuing higher education outside his home country either for short or long semesters at all levels of higher education (Abdullah, Abdul Aziz, & Mohd Ibrahim, 2017).
5	Student mobility	Student mobility is defined as the student who pursued higher education abroad either for short or long semesters at all levels of higher education (Abdullah et al., 2017).
6	Education hub	Lee (2014) defined education hub as a planned effort of strategic engagement both by locals and internationals in producing new knowledge and innovation initiatives for a competitive economy.

# 1.10 The Organisation of the Thesis

This thesis is divided into five chapters. The first chapter outlines the globalisation of higher education, the aim of Malaysia to become the global education hub and challenges in globalisation that affects higher education. It will also discuss the problem statement, research questions, research objectives, scope of study and significance of the research. The second chapter contains a review of the literature on the theoretical background, student mobility and key internationalisation strategy factors. The third chapter discusses the research methodology used in this study including research design, research method, the location of study, population and sampling, data collection method, instruments used, hypothesis development and data analysis procedures. The fourth chapter outlines the reports and discussion on the quantitative analysis of this survey, and finally, the fifth chapter outlines the conclusion of the study, implication and future recommendations of a similar field of study.

#### REFERENCES

- Abd Aziz, M. I., & Abdullah, D. (2014). Finding the next 'wave' in internationalisation of higher education: Focus on Malaysia. *Asia Pacific Education Review*, 15(3), 493–502. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12564-014-9336-7
- Abdullah, D., Abdul Aziz, M. I., & Mohd Ibrahim, A. L. (2017). The stories they tell: understanding international student mobility through higher education policy. *Journal of Studies in International Education*, 21(5), 450–466. https://doi.org/10.1177/1028315317720766
- Abdullah, F. (2005). HEdPERF versus SERVPERF. *Quality Assurance in Education*, 13(4), 305–328. https://doi.org/10.1108/09684880510626584
- Abdullah, F. (2006a). Measuring service quality in higher education: HEdPERF versus SERVPERF. *Marketing Intelligence and Planning*, 24(1), 31–47. https://doi.org/10.1108/02634500610641543
- Abdullah, F. (2006b). The development of HEdPERF: A new measuring instrument of service quality for the higher education sector. *International Journal of Consumer Studies*, 30(6), 569–581. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1470-6431.2005.00480.x
- Abu Bakar, A. R., & Abdul Talib, A. N. (2013). A case study of an internationalization process of a private higher education institution in Malaysia. *Gadjah Mada International Journal of Business*, 15(3), 211–230. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Abdul\_Rahim\_Abu\_Bakar2/publication/286 354249\_A\_Case\_Study\_of\_an\_Internationalization\_Process\_of\_a\_Private\_Highe r\_Education\_Institution\_in\_Malaysia/links/5667fecf08aea62726ef3513.pdf
- Abu Hasan, H. F., Ilias, A., Abd Rahman, R., & Abd Razak, M. Z. (2008). Service Quality and Student Satisfaction: A Case Study at Private Higher Education Institutions. *International Business Research*, 1(3), 163–175. https://doi.org/10.5539/ibr.v1n3p163
- Abubakar, M. M., & Mokhtar, S. S. M. (2015). Relationship marketing, long term orientation and customer loyalty in higher education. *Mediterranean Journal of Social Sciences*, 6(4), 466–474. https://doi.org/10.5901/mjss.2015.v6n4p466
- Adu, D. T., & Denkyirah, E. K. (2017). Education and economic growth: A cointegration approach. *International Journal Education Economics and Development*, 8(4), 228–249. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Derick\_Taylor\_Adu/publication/321711236 \_Education\_and\_economic\_growth\_a\_cointegration\_approach/links/5bcc322792851cae21b6dfe4/Education-and-economic-growth-a-co-integration-approach.pdf?origin=publication\_detail
- Aguinis, H., Edwards, J. R., & Bradley, K. J. (2017). Improving Our Understanding of Moderation and Mediation in Strategic Management Research. *Organizational Research Methods*, 20(4), 665–685. https://doi.org/10.1177/1094428115627498
- Ahmad, S. Z. (2015). Evaluating student satisfaction of quality at international branch campuses. *Assessment and Evaluation in Higher Education*, 40(4), 488–507. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2014.925082

- Ahmad, S. Z., & Buchanan, F. R. (2015). Motivation factors in students decision to study at international branch campuses in Malaysia. *Studies in Higher Education*. https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2015.1067604
- Ahmad, S. Z., Buchanan, F. R., & Ahmad, N. (2016). Examination of students' selection criteria for international education. *International Journal of Educational Management*, 30(6), 1088–1103. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJEM-11-2014-0145
- Akareem, H. S., & Hossain, S. S. (2016). Determinants of education quality: What makes students' perception different? *Open Review of Educational Research*, *3*(1), 52–67. https://doi.org/10.1080/23265507.2016.1155167
- Alarcón-del-Amo, M.-C., Casablancas-Segura, C., & Llonch, J. (2016). Responsive and proactive stakeholder orientation in public universities: Antecedents and consequences. *Higher Education*, 72(2), 131–151. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-015-9942-2
- Aleixo, A. M., Leal, S., & Azeiteiro, U. M. (2018). Conceptualization of sustainable higher education institutions, roles, barriers, and challenges for sustainability: An exploratory study in Portugal. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 172, 1664–1673. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.11.010
- Ali, F., Zhou, Y., Hussain, K., Kumat, P., Neethiahnanthan, N., & Ragavan, A. (2017). Quality assurance in education. *Quality Assurance in Education*, 25(2). https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/QAE-04-2013-0016
- Ali, Faizan, Zhou, Y., Hussain, K., Nair, P. K., & Ragavan, N. A. (2016). Does higher education service quality affect student satisfaction, image and loyalty? A study of international students in Malaysian public universities. *Quality Assurance in Education*, 24(1). https://doi.org/10.1108/QAE-02-2014-0008
- Ali, N. A., Mahat, F., & Mukhtar, R. (2017). Quality governance and performance evaluation in Malaysian public sector. *International Journal of Economics and Management*, 11(Special Issue 3), 831–845. Retrieved from http://www.ijem.upm.edu.my/vol11noS3/(15) IJEM (S3) 2017 R2 (JPP13) Quality Governance and Performance Evaluation.pdf
- Alin, A. (2010). Multicollinearity. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Computational Statistics*, 2(3), 370–374. https://doi.org/10.1002/wics.84
- Aljohani, O. (2016). A review of the contemporary international literature on student retention in higher education. *International Journal of Education and Literacy Studies*, 4(1), 40–51. Retrieved from https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1149286.pdf
- Alonderiene, R., & Majauskaite, M. (2016). Leadership style and job satisfaction in higher education institutions. *International Journal of Education Management*, 30(1), 140–164. https://doi.org/DOI 10.1108/IJEM-08-2014-0106
- Alpha, A., & Vincent, S. (2015). Factors determining firms' strategy of internationalization: A case study on Poland. *International Journal of Business and Management Review*, 3(5), 1–16. Retrieved from http://www.eajournals.org/wp-content/uploads/Factors-Determining-Firms-Strategy-of-Internationalization-A-Case-Study-on-Poland.pdf

- Ammigan, R., & Jones, E. (2018). Improving the Student Experience: Learning From a Comparative Study of International Student Satisfaction. *Journal of Studies in International Education*, 22(4), 283–301. https://doi.org/10.1177/1028315318773137
- Annamdevula, S., & Bellamkonda, R. S. (2016). The effects of service quality on student loyalty: the mediating role of student satisfaction. *Journal of Modelling in Management*, 11(2), 446–462. https://doi.org/10.1108/JM2-04-2014-0031
- Ardakani, F. B., Yarmohammadian, M. H., Abari, A. A. F., & Fathi, K. (2011). Internationalization of higher education systems. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, *15*(1), 1690–1695. https://doi.org/doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2011.03.353
- Arif, S., Ilyas, M., & Hameed, A. (2013). Student satisfaction and impact of leadership in private universities. *The TQM Journal*, 25(4), 399–416. https://doi.org/10.1108/17542731311314881
- Asderaki, F., & Maragos, D. (2012). The internationalization of higher education: the added value of the European portals and social media pages for the national and the institutional internationalization strategies. In *International Conference on Information Communication Technologies in Education* (pp. 498–510). Retrieved from http://www.icicte.org/Proceedings2012/Papers/13-1-Asderaki.pdf
- Asfour, A. M. (2015). The key Egyptian preference factors for increasing students' satisfaction applied study on Arab Academy for science, technology and maritime transport. *International Journal of Business and Social Research*, 5(5), 77–93. Retrieved from https://thejournalofbusiness.org/index.php/site/article/view/773
- Aslam, U., Rehman, M., Imran, M. K., & Muqadas, F. (2016). The impact of teacher qualifications and experience on student satisfaction: a mediating and moderating research model. *Pakistan Journal of Commerce and Social Sciences*, 10(3), 505–524. Retrieved from https://www.econstor.eu/handle/10419/188265
- Azman, N., Sirat, M., & Ahmad, A. R. (2014). Higher education, learning regions and the Malaysian transformation policies. *Higher Education Policy*, 27(3), 301–321. https://doi.org/10.1057/hep.2013.26
- Azoury, N., Daou, L., & Khoury, C. EL. (2014). University image and its relationship to student satisfaction- case of the Middle Eastern private business schools. *International Strategic Management Review*, 2(1), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ism.2014.07.001
- Baharun, R., Awang, Z., & Padlee, S. F. (2011). International students choice criteria for selection of higher learning in Malaysian private universities. *African Journal of Business Management*, 5(12), 4704–4714. Retrieved from http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.914.2677&rep=rep1&t ype=pdf
- Bak, H. J., & Kim, D. H. (2015). Too much emphasis on research? An empirical examination of the relationship between research and teaching in multitasking environments. *Research in Higher Education*, 56(8), 843–860. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11162-015-9372-0

- Ballerini, V. (2017). Global higher education trends and national policies: Access, privatization, and internationalization in Argentina. *Policy Reviews in Higher Education*, *1*(1), 42–68. https://doi.org/10.1080/23322969.2016.1245113
- Barnes, J. H., Paswan, A. K., & Gilbert, F. W. (2015). Number of factors obtained by chance: A simulation study. In *Proceedings of the 1994 Academy of Marketing Science (AMS) Annual Conference* (Wilson E., pp. 280–285). Developments in Marketing Science: Proceedings of the Academy of Marketing Science. Springer, Cham. Retrieved from http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-319-13162-7\_73
- Baron, R. M., & Kenny, D. A. (1986). The moderator-mediator variable distinction in social psychological research: conceptual, strategic, and statistical considerations. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 51(6), 1173–1182. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.51.6.1173
- Bashir, S. (2007). Trends in international trade in higher education: Implications and options for developing countries. Education Working Paper Series. Retrieved from http://siteresources.worldbank.org/EDUCATION/Resources/278200-1099079877269/547664-1099079956815/WPS6\_Intl\_trade\_higherEdu.pdf
- Beech, S. E. (2014). Why place matters: imaginative geography and international student mobility. *Area*, 46(2), 170–177. https://doi.org/10.1111/area.12096
- Bergeron, B. D., & Martin, C. (2015). Strengthening Our Economy Through College for All. Center for American Progress. Retrieved from https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/education-postsecondary/reports/2015/02/19/105522/strengthening-our-economy-through-college-for-all/
- Bhattacherjee, A. (2001). Understanding information systems continuance: An expectation confirmation model. *MIS Quarterly*, 25(3), 351–370.
- Birkholz, J. M., Seeber, M., & Holmberg, K. (2015). Drivers of higher education institutions' visibility: A study of UK HEIs social media use vs organizational characteristics. In *Proceedings of ISSI 2015 Istanbul: 15th International Society of Scientometrics and Informetrics Conference* (pp. 502–513). Retrieved from hhttps://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/0953/6e175cd774f1e9bfb752d8b750ad87461cc e.pdf80775&partnerID=40&md5=6f6f16dd5da6bdd99b1803a8f2d86f64
- Bolton, R. N. (1998). A Dynamic Model of the Duration of the Customer's Relationship with a Continuous Service Provider: The Role of Satisfaction. *Marketing Science*, 17(1), 45–65. https://doi.org/10.1287/mksc.17.1.45
- Boosting productivity key to Malaysian economic growth: World Bank. (2016, December 20). *The Sun Daily*. Retrieved from https://www.thesundaily.my/archive/2100470-MTARCH416119
- Braga, B., Mckernan, S.-M., Ratcliffe, C., & Baum, S. (2017). Wealth inequality is a barrier to education and social mobility. Urban Institute. Retrieved from https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/publication/89976/wealth\_and\_education\_4.pdf

- Brewer, A., & Zhao, J. (2010). The impact of a pathway college on reputation and brand awareness for its affiliated university in Sydney. *International Journal of Educational Management*, 24(1), 34–47. https://doi.org/10.1108/09513541011013033
- British Council. (2008). *International student mobility in East Asia: executive summary*. *British Council*. Retrieved from https://www.britishcouncil.org/sites/default/files/international-student-mobility-in-east-asia.pdf
- British Council. (2012). The shape of things to come: higher education global trends and Emerging opportunities to 2020. British Council. Retrieved from https://www.britishcouncil.org/sites/default/files/the\_shape\_of\_things\_to\_come\_higher\_education\_global\_trends\_and\_emerging\_opportunities\_to\_2020.pdf
- Burns, K. E. A., Duffett, M., Kho PT, M. E., Meade, M. O., Neill K.J. Adhikari, Sinuff, T., & Cook, D. J. (1985). A guide for the design and conduct of self-administered surveys of clinicians. *Canadian Medical Association*, *32*(5), 3194–3202. https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevB.32.3194
- Butt, B. Z., & Rehman, K. U. (2010). A study examining the students satisfaction in higher education. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 2(2), 5446–5450. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2010.03.888
- Byun, K., & Kim, M. (2011). Shifting patterns of the government's policies for the internationalization of Korean higher education. *Journal of Studies in International Education*, 15(5), 467–486. https://doi.org/10.1177/1028315310375307
- Cantu, M. P. (2013). Three effective strategies of internationalization in American universities. *Journal of International Education and Leadership*, 3(3), 1–12. Retrieved from http://www.jielusa.org/wp-content/uploads/2012/01/Three-Effective-Strategies-of-Internationalization-in-American-Universities.pdf
- Capraro, A. J., Patrick, M. L., & BS, M. W. (2004). Attracting college candidates: the impact of perceived social life. *Journal of Marketing for Higher Education*, *14*(1), 93–106. https://doi.org/10.1300/J050v14n01\_06
- Carlsmith, J. M., & Aronson, E. (1963). Some hedonic consequences of the confirmation and disconfirmation of expectancies. *Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology*, 66(2), 151–156. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0042692
- Carter, R. E., & Curry, D. J. (2011). Using student-choice behaviour to estimate tuition elasticity in higher education. *Journal of Marketing Management*, 27(11–12), 1186–1207. https://doi.org/10.1080/0267257X.2011.609653
- Carvalho, S. W., & de Oliveira Mota, M. (2010). The role of trust in creating value and student loyalty in relational exchanges between higher education institutions and their students. *Journal of Marketing for Higher Education*, 20(1), 145–165. https://doi.org/10.1080/08841241003788201
- Chandra, T., Hafni, L., Chandra, S., Purwati, A. A., & Chandra, J. (2019). The influence of service quality, university image on student satisfaction and student loyalty. *Benchmarking: An International Journal*. https://doi.org/10.1108/BIJ-07-2018-0212/full/html

- Chen, D. I., & Lo, W. Y. W. (2013). Internationalization or commodification? A case study of internationalization practices in Taiwan's higher education. *Asia Pacific Education Review*, *14*(1), 33–41. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12564-013-9246-0
- Chen, S.-H., Yang, C.-C., Shiau, J.-Y., & Wang, H.-H. (2006). The development of an employee satisfaction model for higher education. *The TQM Magazine*, 18(5), 484–500. https://doi.org/10.1108/09544780610685467
- Chong, P. Y. (2014). Internationalization of higher education: A literature review on competency approach. *International Journal of Asian Social Science*, 4(2), 258–273. Retrieved from http://www.conscientiabeam.com/pdf-files/soc/1/Ijass-4(2) 258-273.pdf
- Christensen, T., & Lægreid, P. (2002). Trust in government: The relative importance of service satisfaction, political factors, and demography (https://www.academia.edu/23472561/Trust\_in\_Government\_The\_Relative\_Importance\_of\_Service\_Satisfaction\_Political\_Factors\_and\_Demography). Conference of the European Group of Public Administration.
- Churchill, G. A., & Peter, J. P. (1984). Research design effects on the reliability of rating scales: a meta analysis. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 21(November), 360–375. https://doi.org/10.2307/3151463
- Cohen, J. (1988). Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences (2nd ed.). Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Publishers.
- Cooper, D. R., & Schindler, P. S. (2014). *Business Research Methods* (12th ed.). McGraw-Hill Education.
- Creswell, J. W. (2009). Research design: qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches (3rd ed.). Sage.
- Dahari, Z., & Abduh, M. (2011). Factors influencing international students' choice towards universities in Malaysia. *African Journal of Business Management*, 5(26), 10615–10620. https://doi.org/10.5897/AJBM11.521
- Daud, N., Ali, N. A., & Jantan, A. H. (2019). Influential determinants of international student's satisfaction in higher education. *International Journal of Recent Technology and Engineering*, 8(2S11), 589–597. https://doi.org/10.35940/ijrte.B1091.0982S1119
- Davenport, S. (2004). Panic and panacea: Brain drain and science and technology human capital policy. *Research Policy*, 33(4), 617–630. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2004.01.006
- Dearden, L., Fitzsimons, E., & Wyness, G. (2014). Money for nothing: Estimating the impact of student aid on participation in higher education. *Economics of Education Review*, *43*, 66–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.econedurev.2014.09.005
- Debois, S. (2019). Ten advantages and disadvantages of questionnaires. Retrieved from https://surveyanyplace.com/questionnaire-pros-and-cons/
- DeMoranville, C. W., & O'Donnell, P. B. (2008). Price elasticity of per-credit-hour tuition charges and the effects on four-year graduation rates. *Journal of Marketing for Higher Education*, 11(4), 29–41. https://doi.org/10.1300/J050v11n04 03

- Dennis, C., Papagiannidis, S., Alamanos, E., & Bourlakis, M. (2016). The role of brand attachment strength in higher education. *Journal of Business Research*, 69(8), 3049–3057. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2016.01.020
- Dericks, G., Thompson, E., Roberts, M., & Phua, F. (2019). Determinants of PhD student satisfaction: The roles of supervisor, department, and peer qualities. *Assessment and Evaluation in Higher Education*, 44(7), 1053–1068. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2019.1570484
- Dill, D. D. (1997). Higher education markets and public policy. *Higher Education Policy*, 10(3/4), 167–186. https://doi.org/10.1057/palgrave.hep.8380082
- Douglas, J., McClelland, R., & Davies, J. (2008). The development of a conceptual model of student satisfaction with their experience in higher education. *Quality Assurance* in Education, 16(1), 19–35. https://doi.org/10.1108/09684880810848396
- Douglass, J., Edelstein, R., & Hoareau, C. (2011). A global talent magnet: how a San Francisco/bay area global higher education hub could advance California's comparative advantage in attracting international talent and further build US economic competetiveness. Research & Occasional Paper Series. Berkeley. Retrieved from https://escholarship.org/content/qt3bm3s5m9/qt3bm3s5m9.pdf?t=lppuqk
- Drydakis, N. (2015). Economics applicants in the uk labour market: University reputation and employment outcomes. *International Journal of Manpower*, *36*(3), 296–333. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJM-02-2014-0061
- Duarte, P. O., Alves, H. B., & Raposo, M. B. (2010). Understanding university image: a structural equation model approach. *International Review on Public and Nonprofit Marketing*, 7(1), 21–36. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12208-009-0042-9
- Duque, L. C. (2014). A framework for analysing higher education performance: Students' satisfaction, perceived learning outcomes, and dropout intentions. *Total Quality Management and Business Excellence*, 25(1–2), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1080/14783363.2013.807677
- Dužević, I., Mikulić, J., & Baković, T. (2018). An extended framework for analysing higher education performance. *Total Quality Management and Business Excellence*, 29(5–6), 599–617. https://doi.org/10.1080/14783363.2016.1224083
- Elliott, K. M., & Healy, M. A. (2001). Key factors influencing student satisfaction related to recruitment and retention. *Journal of Marketing for Higher Education*, 10(4), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1300/J050v10n04
- Elliott, K. M., & Shin, D. (2002). Student satisfaction: An alternative approach to assessing this important concept. *Journal of Higher Education Policy and Management*, 24(2), 197–209. https://doi.org/10.1080/1360080022000013518
- Elsharnouby, T. H. (2015). Student co-creation behavior in higher education: the role of satisfaction with the university experience. *Journal of Marketing for Higher Education*, 25(2), 238–262. https://doi.org/10.1080/08841241.2015.1059919
- Etikan, I. (2016). Comparison of convenience sampling and purposive sampling. *American Journal of Theoretical and Applied Statistics*, 5(1), 1. https://doi.org/10.11648/j.ajtas.20160501.11

- Farahmandian, S., Minavand, H., & Afshardost, M. (2016). Perceived service quality and student satisfaction in higher education. *IOSR Journal of Business and Management*, 12(4), 65–74. https://doi.org/10.9790/487X-1246574
- Farhan, B. Y. (2014). Tuition elasticity of demand as a tool to manage higher education institutions. *International Journal of Arts & Sciences*, 07(05), 159–172. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Bayan\_Farhan/publication/303784757 \_TUITION\_ELASTICITY\_OF\_DEMAND\_AS\_A\_TOOL\_TO\_MANAGE\_HIG HER\_EDUCATION\_INSTITUTIONS/links/5751b9fc08ae10d93370be67/TUITI ON-ELASTICITY-OF-DEMAND-AS-A-TOOL-TO-MANAGE-HIGHER-EDUCATION-INSTITU
- Farr, M. (2003). "Extending" participation in higher education Implications for marketing." *Journal of Targeting, Measurement and Analysis for Marketing*, 11(4), 314–325. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1057/palgrave.jt.5740087
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Buchner, A., & Lang, A.-G. (2009). Statistical power analyses using G\*Power 3.1: Tests for correlation and regression analyses. *Behavior Research Methods*, 41(4), 1149–1160. https://doi.org/10.3758/BRM.41.4.1149
- Franz, F., Erdfelder, E., Lang, A., & Buchner, A. (2007). G\*Power 3: A flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences. Behavior Research Methods, 19(2), 175–191. https://doi.org/10.3758/BF03193146
- Gamage, D. T., Suwanabroma, J., Ueyama, T., Hada, S., & Sekikawa, E. (2008). The impact of quality assurance measures on student services at the Japanese and Thai private universities. *Quality Assurance in Education*, 16(2), 181–198. https://doi.org/10.1108/09684880810868457
- Gareis, E., Merkin, R., & Goldman, J. (2011). Intercultural friendship: Linking communication variables and friendship success. *Journal of Intercultural Communication*Research, 40(2), 153–171. https://doi.org/10.1080/17475759.2011.581034
- Gibbons, S., Neumayer, E., & Perkins, R. (2015). Student satisfaction, league tables and university applications: Evidence from Britain. *Economics of Education Review*, 48, 148–164. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.econedurev.2015.07.002
- Gibson, A. (2010). Measuring business student satisfaction: a review and summary of the major predictors. *Journal of Higher Education Policy and Management*, 32(3), 251–259. https://doi.org/10.1080/13600801003743349
- Grapragasem, S., Krishnan, A., & Mansor, A. N. (2014). Current trends in Malaysian higher education and the effect on education policy and practice: An overview. *International Journal of Higher Education*, *3*(1), 85–93. https://doi.org/10.5430/ijhe.v3n1p85
- Grebennikov, L., & Shah, M. (2013). Monitoring trends in student satisfaction. *Tertiary Education and Management*, 19(4), 301–322. https://doi.org/10.1080/13583883.2013.804114
- Grimm, P. (2010). Pretesting a Questionnaire. *Wiley International Encyclopedia of Marketing*, 2010. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781444316568.wiem02051

- Gross, J. P. K., & Berry, M. S. (2016). The relationship between state policy levers and student mobility. *Research in Higher Education*, *57*(1), 1–27. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11162-015-9377-8
- Guardian, T. (2017, November 11). Top 20 countries for international students. *The Guardian*, pp. 1–2. Retrieved from http://www.theguardian.com/highereducation-network/blog/2014/jul/17/top-20-countries-international-students
- Gujarati, D. N., & Porter, D. C. (2009). *Basic of Econometric. Econometrics*. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-137-37502-5 17
- Gül, H., Gül, S. S., Kaya, E., & Alican, A. (2010). Main trends in the world of higher education, internationalization and institutional autonomy. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 9, 1878–1884. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2010.12.417
- Hair, J. F. J., Black, W. C., Babin, Ba. J., & Anderson, R. E. (2014). *Multivariate data analysis* (7th ed.).
- Hair, J. F. J., Sarstedt, M., Ringle, C. M., & Gudergan, S. P. (2017). Advanced Issues in Partial Least Squares Structural Equation Modeling. Research Gate. Sage Publications, Inc.
- Hair, J. F., Ringle, C. M., & Sarstedt, M. (2011). PLS-SEM: Indeed a Silver Bullet. *Journal of Marketing Theory and Practice*, 19(2), 139–152. https://doi.org/10.2753/mtp1069-6679190202
- Hammond, C. D. (2016). Internationalization, nationalism, and global competitiveness: a comparison of approaches to higher education in China and Japan. *Asia Pacific Education Review*, 17(4), 555–566. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12564-016-9459-0
- Hasan, L. M., & Masri, R. (2015). Factors influence the satisfaction of international students at private universities in Malaysia. *International Journal of Science and Research*, 4(8), 136–142. Retrieved from https://www.ijsr.net/show\_abstract.php
- Hayes, A. F. (2009). Beyond Baron and Kenny: Statistical mediation analysis in the new millennium. *Communication Monographs*, 76(4), 408–420. https://doi.org/10.1080/03637750903310360
- Hayes, A. F. (2012). PROCESS: A versatile computational tool for observed variable mediation, moderation, and conditional process modeling. *White Paper*, 1–39. Retrieved from https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/e9bb/7b23993113a73ee1ff6cde5ff9a4164f946e. pdf?\_ga=2.112183110.350850007.1560126008-1518722480.1560126008
- Hayes, A. F. (2018). Introduction to mediation, moderation and conditional process analysis: A regression-based approach (2nd ed.). New York, London: The Guilford Press.
- Hayes, A. F., & Preacher, K. J. (2014). Statistical mediation analysis with a multicategorical independent variable. *British Journal of Mathematical and Statistical Psychology*, 67(3), 451–470. https://doi.org/10.1111/bmsp.12028
- Helgesen, Ø. (2008). Marketing for higher education: A relationship marketing approach. *Journal of Marketing for Higher Education*, 18(1), 50–78. https://doi.org/10.1080/08841240802100188

- Helgesen, Ø., & Nesset, E. (2007a). Images, satisfaction and antecedents: Drivers of student loyalty? A case study of a Norwegian University College. *Corporate Reputation Review*, 10(1), 38–59. https://doi.org/10.1057/palgrave.crr.1550037
- Helgesen, Ø., & Nesset, E. (2007b). What accounts for students' loyalty? Some field study evidence. *International Journal of Educational Management*, 21(2), 126–143. https://doi.org/10.1108/09513540710729926
- Helm, S., Eggert, A., & Garnefeld, I. (2010). Modeling the impact of corporate reputation on customer satisfaction and loyalty using partial least squares. *Handbook of Partial Least Squares*, (March 2016), 515–534. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-540-32827-8\_23
- Hemsley-Brown, J., Melewar, T. C., Nguyen, B., & Wilson, E. J. (2016). Exploring brand identity, meaning, image, and reputation (BIMIR) in higher education: A special section. *Journal of Business Research*, 69(8), 3019–3022. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2016.01.016
- Heo, C. Y., & Lee, S. (2016). Examination of student loyalty in tourism and hospitality programs: A comparison between the United States and Hong Kong. *Journal of Hospitality, Leisure, Sport and Tourism Education*, 18, 69–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhlste.2016.03.003
- Hill, R. (1998). What sample size is "enough" in internet survey research? *Interpersonal Computing and Technology: An Electronic Journal for the 21st Century*, 6(3–4), 1–12. Retrieved from http://www.websm.org/db/12/1887/Bibliography/What Sample Size is
- Hinkle, D. E., Wiersma, W., & Jurs, S. G. (2003). *Applied statistics for behavioral sciences* (5th ed.). Houghton Mifflin Harcout.
- Hinton, P. R., Brownlow, C., McMurray, I., & Cozens, B. (2004). SPSS explained. Routledge Taylor & Francis Group.
- Horowitz, D. L. (1989). Cause and consequence in public policy theory: Ethnic policy and system transformation in Malaysia. *Policy Sciences*, 22(3–4), 249–287. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00136321
- Hou, A. Y. (2012). Impact of excellence programs on Taiwan higher education in terms of quality assurance and academic excellence, examining the conflicting role of Taiwan's accrediting agencies. *Asia Pacific Education Review*, 13(1), 77–88. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12564-011-9181-x
- Hübner, M. (2012). Do tuition fees affect enrollment behavior? Evidence from a "natural experiment" in Germany. *Economics of Education Review*, *31*(6), 949–960. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.econedurev.2012.06.006
- Humphreys, B. R. (2000). Do business cycles affect state appropriations to higher education. *Southern Economic Journal*, 67(2), 398–413. https://doi.org/10.2307/1061477
- Ibnu Ruslan, R., Halim Ku, K. A., Islam, M. A., & Mohammad Zaidi, N. I. (2014). Determinants students' selection of higher education institutions in Malaysia. *Advances in Environmental Biology*, 8(9), 406–416. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/263807482

- Institut Penyelidikan Pendidikan Tinggi Negara. (2009). *Kajian Pelajar Antarabangsa di Malaysia. IPPTN*.
- Jahan, F., & Shahan, A. M. (2016). Public policy and governance in Bangladesh: Forty years of experience. Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315621043
- Jani, R., Zubairi, Y. Z., Huam, H. T., & Ngah, A. H. (2010). International students' views of Malaysian higher education. In *Internationalisation and Marketing of Higher Education Malaysia Seminar*. https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.1.2872.5526
- Jeptoo, M. L., & Razia, M. (2012). Internationalization of higher education: Rationale, collaborations and its implications. *International Journal of Academic Research in Progressive Education and Development*, *1*(4), 2226–6348. Retrieved from http://hrmars.com/admin/pics/1395.pdf
- Kahn, H. E., & Agnew, M. (2016). Global learning through difference: Considerations for teaching, learning, and the internationalization of higher education. *Journal of Studies in International Education*, 21(1), 52–64. https://doi.org/10.1177/1028315315622022
- Katircioglu, S. T., Mehtap-Smadi, S., Kilinç, C., & Ünlücan, D. (2012). Service quality and university students' satisfaction on the travel agencies: An empirical investigation from Northern Cyprus. *International Journal of Quality and Service Sciences*, 4(3), 299–311. https://doi.org/10.1108/17566691211269602
- Keep, E., & Mayhew, K. (2004). The economic and distributional implications of current policies on higher education. *Oxford Review of Economic Policy*, 20(2), 298–314. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxrep/grh017
- Kelley, K., Clark, B., Brown, V., & Sitzia, J. (2003). Good practice in the conduct and reporting of survey research. *International Journal for Quality in Health Care*, 15(3), 261–266. https://doi.org/10.1093/intqhc/mzg031
- Kiley, M. (2011). Government policy and research higher degree education. *Journal of Higher Education Policy and Management*, 33(6), 629–640. https://doi.org/10.1080/1360080X.2011.621189
- Klafter, C. E. (2018). International Student Recruitment Abuses. *Academic Questions*, 31(3), 345–350. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12129-018-9724-2
- Knight, J. (2004). Internationalization remodeled: Definition, approaches, and rationales. *Journal of Studies in International Education*, 8(1), 5–31. https://doi.org/10.1177/1028315303260832
- Knight, J., & Morshidi, S. (2011). The complexities and challenges of regional education hubs: Focus on Malaysia. *Higher Education*, 62(5), 593–606. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-011-9467-2
- Kotabe, M., & Czinkota, M. R. (1992). State government promotion of manufacturing exports: A gap analysis. *Journal of International Business Studies*, 23(4), 637–658.
- Kotler, P., & Keller, K. L. (2006). *Marketing management* (12th ed.). Pearson Prentice Hall.

- Krejcie, R. V., & Morgan, D. W. (1970). Determining sample size for research activities. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 30(3), 607–610. Retrieved from https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/001316447003000308
- Kuo, Y.-K., & Ye, K.-D. (2009). The causal relationship between service quality, corporate image and adults' learning satisfaction and loyalty: A study of professional training programmes in a Taiwanese vocational institute. *Total Quality Management & Business Excellence*, 20(7), 749–762. https://doi.org/10.1080/14783360903037085
- Lai, M. M., Lau, S. H., Mohamad Yusof, N. A., & Chew, K. W. (2015). Assessing antecedents and consequences of student satisfaction in higher education: Evidence from Malaysia. *Journal of Marketing for Higher Education*, 25(1), 45–69. https://doi.org/10.1080/08841241.2015.1042097
- LeBlanc, G., & Nguyen, N. (2001). Image and reputation of higher education institutions in students' retention decisions. *International Journal of Educational Management*, 15(6), 303–311. https://doi.org/10.1108/EUM0000000005909
- Ledden, L., Kalafatis, S. P., & Samouel, P. (2007). The relationship between personal values and perceived value of education. *Journal of Business Research*, 60(9), 965–974. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2007.01.021
- Lee, J. T. (2014). Education hubs and talent development: Policymaking and implementation challenges. *Higher Education*, 68(6), 807–823. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-014-9745-x
- Lenton, P. (2015). Determining student satisfaction: An economic analysis of the National Student Survey. *Economics of Education Review*, 47, 118–127. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.econedurev.2015.05.001
- Lepori, B., Seeber, M., & Bonaccorsi, A. (2015). Competition for talent. Country and organizational-level effects in the internationalization of European higher education institutions. *Research Policy*, 44(3), 789–802. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2014.11.004
- Letcher, D. W., & Neves, J. S. (2010). Determinants of undergraduate business student satisfaction. Research in Higher Education Journal Determinants, 6(1), 1–26. Retrieved from http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.563.9488&rep=rep1&t ype=pdf
- Lock, H. (2015, July 9). Six ways higher education benefits the UK economy. *The Guardian*, pp. 1–3. Retrieved from https://www.theguardian.com/higher-education-network/2015/jul/09/six-ways-higher-education-benefits-the-uk-economy
- MacKinnon, D. P., Fairchild, A. J., & Fritz, M. S. (2007). Mediation analysis. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 58(1), 593–614. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2018.21973
- MacKinnon, D. P., Fritz, M. S., Williams, J., & Lockwood, C. M. (2007). Distribution of the product confidence limits for the indirect effect: Program PRODCLIN. *Behavior Research Methods*, 39(3), 384–389. https://doi.org/10.3758/BF03193007

- Mackinnon, D. P., Warsi, G., & Dwyer, J. H. (1995). Multivariate behavioral research: A simulation study of mediated effect measures. *Multivariate Behavioral Research*, *30*(1), 41–62. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327906mbr3001
- Mai, L.-W. (2005). A comparative study between UK and US: The student satisfaction in higher education and its influential factors. *Journal of Marketing Management*, 21(7–8), 859–878. https://doi.org/10.1362/026725705774538471
- Malaysia GDP 2004-2017. (2019). Retrieved June 28, 2019, from https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SE.XPD.TOTL.GD.ZS?locations=MY
- Malaysia GDP forecast. (2019). Retrieved June 28, 2019, from https://tradingeconomics.com/malaysia/gdp
- Malaysia higher education institutions. (2018). Retrieved December 12, 2018, from http://jpt.mohe.gov.my/portal/
- Malik, M. E., Danish, R. Q., & Usman, A. (2010). The impact of service quality on students' satisfaction in higher education institutes of Punjab. *Journal of Management Research*, 2(2). https://doi.org/10.5296/jmr.v2i2.418
- Manzuma-Ndaaba, N. M., Harada, Y., Nordin, N., Abdullateef, A. O., & Romle, A. R. (2018). Application of social exchange theory on relationship marketing dynamism from higher education service destination loyalty perspective.

  \*\*Management Science Letters\*, 8, 1077–1096.\*\*

  https://doi.org/10.5267/j.msl.2018.7.004
- Marginson, S., & van der Wende, M. (2007a). *Globalisation and higher education* (No. 8). *OECD Education Working Papers*. OECD Publishing, Paris. https://doi.org/10.1787/173831738240
- Marginson, S., & van der Wende, M. (2007b). To rank or to be ranked: The impact of global rankings in higher education. *Journal of Studies in International Education*, 11(3–4), 306–329. https://doi.org/10.1177/1028315307303544
- Mark, E. (2013). Student satisfaction and the customer focus in higher education. *Journal of Higher Education Policy and Management*, 35(1), 2–10. https://doi.org/10.1080/1360080X.2012.727703
- Martin, R. (2002). Why tuition costs are rising so quickly. *Challenge*, 45(4), 88–108. https://doi.org/10.1080/05775132.2002.11034164
- Maxwell-Stuart, R., Taheri, B., Paterson, A. S., O'Gorman, K., & Jackson, W. (2018). Working together to increase student satisfaction: exploring the effects of mode of study and fee status. *Studies in Higher Education*, 43(8), 1392–1404. https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2016.1257601
- Mazzarol, T. (1998). Critical success factors for international education marketing. International Journal of Educational Management, 12(4), 163–175. https://doi.org/10.1108/09513549810220623
- Mazzarol, T., & Soutar, G. N. (2002). "Push-pull" factors influencing international student destination choice. *International Journal of Educational Management*, 16(2), 82–90. https://doi.org/10.1108/09513540210418403

- McMahon, M. E. (1992). Higher education in a world market An historical look at the global context of international study. *Higher Education*, 24(4), 465–482. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00137243
- Migin, M. W., Falahat, M., Yajid, M. S. A., & Khatibi, A. (2015). Impacts of institutional characteristics on international students' choice of private higher education institutions in Malaysia. *Higher Education Studies*, 5(1). https://doi.org/10.5539/hes.v5n1p31
- Mikhaylov, N. S. (2014). International business students' crosscultural competence development: The influence of the educational environment. *SAGE Open*, *4*(4), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244014564352
- Mikulić, J., Dužević, I., & Baković, T. (2015). Exploring drivers of student satisfaction and dissatisfaction: an assessment of impact-asymmetry and impact-range. *Total Quality Management and Business Excellence*, 26(11–12), 1213–1225. https://doi.org/10.1080/14783363.2014.925291
- Ministry of Education Malaysia. (2007). Pelan strategik pengajian tinggi negara Perletakan asas melangkaui 2020. Ministry of Education Malaysia. Ministry of Education Malaysia.
- Ministry of Education Malaysia. (2011). Pelan tindakan pengajian tinggi negara fasa 2 (2011 2015). Ministry of Education Malaysia (Vol. 2). Ministry of Education Malaysia.
- Ministry of Education Malaysia. (2015). *Malaysia education blueprint 2015-2025* (*Higher Education*). *Ministry of Education Malaysia*. Ministry of Education Malaysia. https://doi.org/10.5923/j.ijis.20120206.05
- Ministry of Education Malaysia. (2018). International students' enrolment at Malaysia higher education institutions.
- Mohd Yusuf, B. N., M. Ghazali, M. Q., & Abdullah, M. F. S. (2017). Factors influencing local and international students decision in choosing public higher learning institutions in northern region of Malaysia. *International Journal of Social Sciences*, 48(1), 29–41. Retrieved from https://www.tijoss.com/49th volume tijoss/3.pdf
- Motefakker, N. (2016). The study of the level of satisfaction of the students of the faculty of social sciences with welfare services of Imam Khomeini International University of Qazvin. *Procedia Economics and Finance*, *36*, 399–407. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2212-5671(16)30052-1
- Mukaka, M. M. (2012). Statistics Corner: A guide to appropriate use of Correlation coefficient in medical research. *Malawi Medical Journal*, 24(3), 69–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmpb.2016.01.020
- Naidu, P., & Derani, N. E. S. (2016). A comparative study on quality of education received by students of private universities versus public universities. *Procedia Economics and Finance*, *35*, 659–666. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2212-5671(16)00081-2
- Nair, M. S. L. G. C. S. (2015). Quality Assurance in Education Article information: About Emerald www.emeraldinsight.com. A Decade of Study on Employer Feedback on the Quality of University Graduates Introduction, 23(3).

- Nandan, S., Halkias, D., Thurman, P. W., Komodromos, M., Alserhan, B. A., Adendorff, C., ... Seaman, C. (2016). The relationship between institution branding, teaching quality and student satisfaction in higher education in Hong Kong. *Journal of Marketing and HR*, 4(1), 2455–2178. Retrieved from www.scitecresearch.com/journals/index.php/jmhr%0Awww.scitecresearch.com
- Nesset, E., & Helgesen, Ø. (2009). Modelling and managing student loyalty: A study of a Norwegian university college. *Scandinavian Journal of Educational Research*, 53(4), 327–345. https://doi.org/10.1080/00313830903043117
- Neuman, W. L. (2014). Social research methods: qualitative and quantitative approaches (7th ed.). Pearson.
- Ngamkamollert, T., & Ruangkanjanases, A. (2015). Factors influencing foreign students' satisfaction toward international program in Thai universities. *International Journal of Information and Education Technology*, *5*(3), 170–178. https://doi.org/10.7763/ijiet.2015.v5.497
- Nguyen, H. T., Trung, N. D., & Thach, N. N. (2019). Beyond traditional probabilistic methods in econometrics. Studies in Computational Intelligence (Vol. 809). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-04200-4\_1
- Nha, N., & Gaston, L. (1998). The mediating role of corporate image on customers' retention decisions: An investigation in financial services. *International Journal of Bank Marketing*, 16(2), 52–65. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/02652329810206707
- Ogunnaike, O. O., Borishade, T. T., & Jeje, O. E. (2014). Customer relationship management approach and student satisfaction in higher education marketing. *Journal of Competitiveness*, 6(3), 49–62. https://doi.org/10.7441/joc.2014.03.04
- Oliva, T. A., Oliver, R. L., & MacMillan, I. C. (2006). A Catastrophe Model for Developing Service Satisfaction Strategies. *Journal of Marketing*, *56*(3), 83. https://doi.org/10.2307/1252298
- Oliver, R. L. (1980). A cognitive model of the antecedents and consequences of satisfaction decisions. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 17(4), 55–60.
- Oliver, R. L. (1997). Satisfaction: A behavioral perspective on the consumer. New York: McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc.
- Oliver, R. L. (1999). Whence consumer loyalty? *Journal of Marketing*, 63, 33. https://doi.org/10.2307/1252099
- Osman, A., Othman, Y., Rana, S. M. S., Solaiman, M., & Lal, B. (2015). The influence of job satisfaction, job motivation & perceived organizational support towards organizational citizenship behavior (OCB): a perspective of American-Based Organization in Kulim, Malaysia. *Asian Social Science*, 11(21), 174–182. https://doi.org/10.5539/ass.v11n21p174
- Özoğlu, M., Gür, B. S., & Coşkun, İ. (2015). Factors influencing international students' choice to study in Turkey and challenges they experience in Turkey. *Research in Comparative and International Education*, 10(2), 223–237. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1177/1745499915571718

- Padlee, S. F., Kamaruddin, A. R., & Baharun, R. (2010). International students' choice behavior for higher education at Malaysian private universities. *International Journal of Marketing Studies*, 2(2), 202–211. https://doi.org/10.5539/ijms.v2n2p202
- Pallant, J. (2011). SPSS survival guide (4th ed.). Allen & Unwin.
- Papadomichelaki, X., & Mentzas, G. (2012). E-GovQual: A multiple-item scale for assessing e-government service quality. *Government Information Quarterly*, 29(1), 98–109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.giq.2011.08.011
- Parahoo, S. K., Santally, M. I., Rajabalee, Y., & Harvey, H. L. (2016). Designing a predictive model of student satisfaction in online learning. *Journal of Marketing for Higher Education*, 26(1), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1080/08841241.2015.1083511
- Paswan, A. K., & Ganesh, G. (2009). Higher education institutions: Satisfaction and loyalty among international students. *Journal of Marketing for Higher Education*, 19(1), 65–84. https://doi.org/10.1080/08841240902904869
- Pennington, C. R., Bates, E. A., Kaye, L. K., & Bolam, L. T. (2017). Transitioning in higher education: An exploration of psychological and contextual factors affecting student satisfaction. *Journal of Further and Higher Education*, 1–28. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1080/0309877X.2017.1302563
- Petruzzellis, L., D'Uggento, A. M., & Romanazzi, S. (2006). Student satisfaction and quality of service in Italian universities. *Managing Service Quality*, 16(4), 349–364. https://doi.org/10.1108/09604520610675694
- Phang, S. L. (2013). Factors Influencing International Student' Study Destination Decision Abroad. *Report No. 2012:087 ISSN: 1651-4769*, (2012), 53. https://doi.org/ISSN: 1651-4769
- Plewa, C., Ho, J., Conduit, J., & Karpen, I. O. (2016). Reputation in higher education: A fuzzy set analysis of resource configurations. *Journal of Business Research*, 69(8), 3087–3095. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2016.01.024
- Preacher, K. J., & Hayes, A. F. (2008). Asymptotic and resampling strategies for assessing and comparing indirect effects in multiple mediator models. *Behavior Research Methods*, 40(3), 879–891. https://doi.org/10.3758/BRM.40.3.879
- Pseiridis, A., Agiomirgianakis, G. M., & Lianos, T. (2017). The determinants of student satisfaction acquired by university education: The case of the Hellenic Open University. *Theoretical Economics Letters*, 07(05), 1318–1334. https://doi.org/10.4236/tel.2017.75090
- Qazi, W., Raza, S. A., Jawaid, S. T., & Abd Karim, M. Z. (2018). Does expanding higher education reduce income inequality in emerging economy? Evidence from Pakistan. *Studies in Higher Education*, 43(2), 338–358. https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2016.1172305
- Qiang, Z. (2003). Internationalization of higher education: Towards a conceptual framework. *Policy Futures in Education*, 1(2), 248–270. https://doi.org/10.2304/pfie.2003.1.2.5

- QS Asia university rankings 2014. (2014). Retrieved July 7, 2019, from https://www.topuniversities.com/university-rankings/asian-university-rankings/2014
- QS Asia university rankings 2015. (2015). Retrieved July 7, 2019, from https://www.topuniversities.com/university-rankings/asian-university-rankings/2015
- QS Asia university rankings 2016. (2016). Retrieved July 7, 2019, from https://www.topuniversities.com/university-rankings/asian-university-rankings/2016
- QS Asia university rankings 2018. (2018). Retrieved July 7, 2019, from https://www.topuniversities.com/university-rankings/asian-university-rankings/2018
- QS Asia university rankings 2019. (2019). Retrieved July 7, 2019, from https://www.topuniversities.com/university-rankings/asian-university-rankings/2019
- QS Stars university ratings. (2019). Retrieved June 28, 2019, from https://www.topuniversities.com/qs-stars#sorting=overall+country=113+rating=+order=desc+orderby=uni+search=
- QS World university rankings 2016. (2016). Retrieved July 7, 2019, from https://www.topuniversities.com/university-rankings/world-university-rankings/2015
- QS World university rankings 2017. (2017). Retrieved July 7, 2019, from https://www.topuniversities.com/university-rankings/world-university-rankings/2016
- QS World university rankings 2018. (2018). Retrieved July 7, 2019, from https://www.topuniversities.com/university-rankings/world-university-rankings/2018
- QS World university rankings 2019. (2019). Retrieved July 7, 2019, from https://www.topuniversities.com/university-rankings/world-university-rankings/2019
- QS World university rankings 2020. (2020). Retrieved July 7, 2019, from https://www.topuniversities.com/university-rankings/world-university-rankings/2020
- Raghavan, S., & Ganesh, R. (2015). Addressing service quality to increase students satisfaction and retention in Malaysian private higher education institutions. *American Journal of Economics*, 5(2), 243–250. https://doi.org/10.5923/c.economics.201501.31
- Ramanathan, S., Thambiah, S., & Raman, K. (2012). A perception based analysis of internationalization at Malaysian private universities. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 7(4), 13–25. https://doi.org/10.5539/ijbm.v7n4p13
- Rauschnabel, P. A., Krey, N., Babin, B. J., & Ivens, B. S. (2016). Brand management in higher education: The University Brand Personality Scale. *Journal of Business Research*, 69(8), 3077–3086. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2016.01.023

- Richardson, J. T. E. (2005). Instruments for obtaining student feedback: A review of the literature. *Assessment and Evaluation in Higher Education*, 30(4), 387–415. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602930500099193
- Roberts, P., Priest, H., & Traynor, M. (2006). Reliability and validity in research. *Nursing Standard*, *20*(44), 41–45. https://doi.org/10.7748/ns2006.07.20.44.41.c6560
- Roga, R., Lapiņa, I., & Müürsepp, P. (2015). Internationalization of higher education: Analysis of factors influencing foreign students' choice of higher education institution. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.11.506
- Rojas-Méndez, J., Vasquez-Parraga, A. Z., Kara, A., & Cerda-Urrutia, A. (2009). Determinants of student loyalty in higher education: A tested relationship approach in latin America. *Latin American Business Review*, 10(1), 21–39. https://doi.org/10.1080/10978520903022089
- Rosen, D. E., Curran, J. M., & Greenlee, T. B. (1998). College choice in a brand elimination framework: The high school student's perspective. *Journal of Marketing for Higher Education*, 8(3), 73–92. https://doi.org/10.1300/J050v08n03\_06
- Rowley, J. (2003). Retention: Rhetoric or realistic agendas for the future of higher education. *International Journal of Educational Management*, 17(6), 248–253. https://doi.org/10.1108/09513540310487578
- Salmi, J. (2002). New challenges for tertiary education: The World Bank report. International Higher Education -The Boston College Center for International Higher Education, 28(1), 7–9. Retrieved from https://r.search.yahoo.com/\_ylt=AwrVk5nK4v5clzwARAAPxQt.;\_ylu=X3oDM TByYnR1Zmd1BGNvbG8DZ3ExBHBvcwMyBHZ0aWQDBHNIYwNzcg--/RV=2/RE=1560236874/RO=10/RU=https%3A%2F%2Fejournals.bc.edu%2Fin dex.php%2Fihe%2Farticle%2Fdownload%2F6659%2F5880%2F0/RK=2/RS=Vg 0UlfH7GC5h
- Santiago, R., Carvalho, T., Amaral, A., & Meek, V. L. (2006). Changing patterns in the middle management of higher education institutions: The case of Portugal. *Higher Education*, 52(2), 215–250. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-004-2747-3
- Santini, F. de O., Ladeira, W. J., Sampaio, C. H., & Costa, G. da S. (2017). Student satisfaction in higher education: a meta-analytic study. *Journal of Marketing for Higher Education*, 27(1), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1080/08841241.2017.1311980
- Santos, C. L., Rita, P., & Guerreiro, J. (2017). Improving international attractiveness of higher education institutions based on text mining and sentiment analysis. *International Journal of Educational Management*. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJEM-01-2017-0027
- Saunders, M., Lewis, P., & Thornhill, A. (2009). *Research methods for business students* (5th ed.). Pearson Education.
- Sekaran, U. (2003). Research methods for business: a skill bulding approach (4th ed.). John Wiley & Sons, Inc.

- Sekaran, U., & Bougie, R. (2016). *Research methods for business, seventh edition* (7th ed.). Chichester, West Sussex, United Kingdom: John Wiley & Sons Ltd.
- Shahijan, M. K., Rezaei, S., & Amin, M. (2015). International students' course satisfaction and continuance behavioral intention in higher education setting: An empirical assessment in Malaysia. *Asia Pacific Education Review*, *17*(1), 41–62. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12564-015-9410-9
- Shahijan, M. K., Rezaei, S., & Guptan, V. P. (2018). Marketing public and private higher education institutions: A total experiential model of international student's satisfaction, performance and continues intention. *International Review on Public and Nonprofit Marketing*, 15(2), 205–234. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12208-018-0198-2
- Shahijan, M. K., Rezaei, S., & Preece, C. N. (2016). Developing a framework of internationalisation for higher education institutions in Malaysia: A SWOT analysis. *International Journal of Management in Education*, 10(2), 145. https://doi.org/10.1504/IJMIE.2016.075556
- Shan, B. Y., Taqriz Shah, N. A. R., & Suat, O. B. (2013). International student's perception on Malaysia as a destination for tertiary Hospitality and Tourism Education. *Interdisciplinary Journal of Contemporary Research in Business*, *5*(5), 435–456. Retrieved from https://journal-archieves35.webs.com/435-456.pdf
- Sirat, M. (2010). Strategic planning directions of Malaysia's higher education: University autonomy in the midst of political uncertainties. *Higher Education*, 59(4), 461–473. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-009-9259-0
- Sobel, M. E. (1982). Asymptotic confidence intervals for indirect effects in structural equation models. *Sociological Methodology*, 13(1982), 290. https://doi.org/10.2307/270723
- Sojkin, B., Bartkowiak, P., & Skuza, A. (2011). Determinants of higher education choices and student satisfaction: The case of Poland. *Higher Education*, 63(5), 565–581. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-011-9459-2
- Song, C., & Lee, J. (2013). Can social media restore citizen trust in government? In *Public Management Research Conference Madison, Wisconsin* (pp. 1–31). Retrieved from https://www.academia.edu/6498955/Not\_for\_Citation\_Can\_Social\_Media\_Restore\_Citizen\_Trust\_in\_Government
- Soo, K. T., & Elliott, C. (2010). Does price matter? Overseas students in UK higher education. *Economics of Education Review*, 29(4), 553–565. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.econedurev.2009.10.016
- Srivastava, M., Moser, R., & De Meijer, T. (2015). Internationalization and Performance in European Market: An Asian Perspective. *International Business Research*, 8(4), 122–138. https://doi.org/10.5539/ibr.v8n4p122
- Stepchenkova, S., & Mills, J. E. (2010). Destination image: A meta-analysis of 2000-2007 research. *Journal of Hospitality Marketing and Management*, 19(6), 575–609. https://doi.org/10.1080/19368623.2010.493071

- Sultan, P., & Ho, Y. W. (2013). Antecedents and consequences of service quality in a higher education context A qualitative research approach. *Quality Assurance in Education*, 21(1), 70–95. Retrieved from http://dro.deakin.edu.au/eserv/DU:30050557/wong-antecedents-post-2012.pdf
- Sung, M., & Yang, S. U. (2009). Student-university relationships and reputation: A study of the links between key factors fostering students' supportive behavioral intentions towards their university. *Higher Education*, *57*(6), 787–811. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-008-9176-7
- Suyanto, M. A., Usu, I., & Moodoeto, M. J. (2019). The role of service quality on building student satisfaction. *American Journal of Economics*, 9(1), 17–20. https://doi.org/10.5923/j.economics.20190901.03
- Tan, A. (2015). College choice behaviors of international students. *SAGE Open*, 5(4). https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244015618995
- Tarun, N., Gupta, H., Kharub, M., Singh, N., Nanda, T., Gupta, H., ... Singh, N. (2013). Diagnostics for pretesting questionnaires: a comparative analysis. *International Journal of Technology, Policy and Management, 13*(1), 67. https://doi.org/10.1504/IJTPM.2013.051008
- Temizer, L., & Turkyilmaz, A. (2012). Implementation of student satisfaction index model in higher education institutions. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 46, 3802–3806. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2012.06.150
- Thomas, S. (2011). What Drives Student Loyalty in Universities: An Empirical Model from India. *International Business Research*, 4(2), 183–192. https://doi.org/10.5539/ibr.v4n2p183
- Tsang, M. C. (1994). Costs of Education in China: Issues of Resource Mobilization, Equality, Equity and Efficiency. *Education Economics*, 2(3), 287–312. https://doi.org/10.1080/09645299400000028
- UNESCO. (2014). Higher education in Asia: expanding out, expanding up. UNESCO. UNESCO Institute for Statistics.
- University highlights 2019. (2019). Retrieved June 28, 2019, from https://www.topuniversities.com/universities/international-islamic-university-malaysia-iium#wurs
- Wadhwa, R. (2016). Students on move: Understanding decision-making process and destination choice of indian students. *Higher Education for the Future*, *3*(1), 54–75. https://doi.org/10.1177/2347631115610221
- Ward, C. (2001). The impact of international students on domestic students and host institutions. New Zealand Ministry of Education. Retrieved from https://www.educationcounts.govt.nz/publications/international/the\_impact\_of\_i nternational\_students\_on\_domestic\_students\_and\_host\_institutions
- Weerasinghe, I. S., Lalitha, R., & Fernando, S. (2017). Students' satisfaction in higher education literature review. *American Journal of Educational Research*, 5(5), 533–539. https://doi.org/10.12691/education-5-5-9

- Welch, E. W., Hinnant, C. C., & Moon, M. J. (2005). Linking citizen satisfaction with e-government and trust in government. *Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory*, *15*(3), 371–391. https://doi.org/10.1093/jopart/mui021
- Whatley, M. (2017). Financing study abroad: an exploration of the influence of financial factors on student study abroad patterns. *Journal of Studies in International Education*, 21(5), 431–449. https://doi.org/10.1177/1028315317697798
- Wilkins, S., Balakrishnan, M. S., & Huisman, J. (2011). Student choice in higher education: Motivation for choosing to study at an international branch campus. *Journal of Studies in International Education*, 16(5), 413–433. https://doi.org/10.1177/1028315311429002
- Wilkins, S., Butt, M. M., Kratochvil, D., & Balakrishnan, M. S. (2015). The effects of social identification and organizational identification on student commitment, achievement and satisfaction in higher education. *Studies in Higher Education*, 41(12), 2232–2252. https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2015.1034258
- Wilkins, S., Shams, F., & Huisman, J. (2013). The decision-making and changing behavioural dynamics of potential higher education students: the impacts of increasing tuition fees in England. *Educational Studies*, 39(2), 125–141. https://doi.org/10.1080/03055698.2012.681360
- Williams, R., & Leahy, A. (2019). Ranking of national higher education systems 2019. *U21*. Retrieved from https://universitas21.com/sites/default/files/2019-04/Full Report and Cover.pdf
- Williams, R., Leahy, A., & Jensen, P. (2017). Ranking of national higher education systems 2017. U21. Melbourne Institute of Applied Economic and Social Research. Retrieved from https://universitas21.com/sites/default/files/2018-03/2017 full report.pdf
- Wit, H. De, Yemini, M., & Martin, R. (2015). Internationalization strategies and policies in second-tier higher education institutions. In *The European Higher Education Area*. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-20877-0\_9
- Wolf, A., & Jenkins, A. (2018). What's in a name? The impact of reputation and rankings on the teaching income of English universities. *Higher Education Quarterly*, 72(4), 286–303. https://doi.org/10.1111/hequ.12162
- Wong, A. T. T., Tong, C., & Wong, J. W.-Y. (2016). The relationship between institution branding, teaching quality and student satisfaction in higher education in Hong Kong. *Journal of Marketing and HR*, 4(1), 2455–2178. Retrieved from www.scitecresearch.com/journals/index.php/jmhr%0Awww.scitecresearch.com
- World Bank. (2019). Malaysia: Government expenditure on education. Retrieved June 28, 2019, from https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SE.XPD.TOTL.GB.ZS?end=2017&location s=MY&start=1992&view=chart

- Yee, C. P., Hazlin, A., & Mokhtar, A. (2014). International Student's Learning Experiences at Private Higher Education Institutions in Malaysia. In *International Conference on Language, Communication and Education*. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Amli\_Hazlin\_Ahmad\_Mokhtar/publication/313515886\_Factors\_Influencing\_International\_Students%27\_Choice\_of\_Study\_Destination\_at\_Private\_Higher\_Education\_Institutions\_in\_Malaysia/links/589d0 9ac92851c599c9755e4/Factors-Infl
- Yu, M., Liu, F., Lee, J., & Soutar, G. (2018). The influence of negative publicity on brand equity: attribution, image, attitude and purchase intention. *Journal of Product and Brand Management*, 27(4), 440–451. https://doi.org/10.1108/JPBM-01-2017-1396
- Yusoff, M., Mcleay, F., & Woodruffe-Burton, H. (2015). Dimensions driving business student satisfaction in higher education. *Quality Assurance in Education*, 23(1), 86–104. https://doi.org/10.1108/QAE-08-2013-0035
- Zain, O. M., Jan, M. T., & Ibrahim, A. (2013). Factors influencing students' decisions in choosing private institutions of higher education in Malaysia: A Structural Equation Modelling approach. *Asian Academy of Management Journal*, 18(1), 75–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0261-5177(02)00111-5
- Zeeshan, M., Sabbar, S. D., Bashir, S., & Hussain, R. I. (2013). Foreign students' motivation for studying in Malaysia. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/269996746\_FOREIGN\_STUDENTS% 27MOTIVATION\_FOR\_STUDYING\_IN\_MALAYSIA
- Zheng, P. (2014). Antecedents to international student inflows to UK higher education: A comparative analysis. *Journal of Business Research*, 67(2), 136–143. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2012.11.003
- Zhou, D., Zhang, W., & Vertinsky, I. (2002). Advertising trends in urban China. *Journal of Advertising Research*, 42(3), 73–81. https://doi.org/10.2501/JAR-42-3-73-81